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              Fawlty Towers 

   The Wombles                         Jaws                          Jim’ll fix it  
We’d observed a sort of New Years Day tradition since moving to Middlesbrough and this year was no different.  Roseberry Topping was a distinctive hill on the border between North Yorkshire and Cleveland, of which it has long been a symbol. Its summit has a distinctive half-cone shape with a jagged cliff, which has led to many comparisons with the much higher Matterhorn in Switzerland.  Dad took Charlie, me and my friend Andrew Brettle, our dog Jenny came too.  It was a bit of a slog but following well trodden paths, even the most amateur of climber could reach the summit.  It was actually scarier coming down, as there was the temptation to go too fast.  I was back at Roseberry Topping in the middle of March, with seven other classmates.  Dad drove us all to Guisborough and we hiked with our teacher Mrs. Wigham, to RT and back.  Mrs. Wigham (Ann) and here husband Geoff, were keen hikers.  On April 19th they took me and some classmates by train to Ruswarp near Whitby.  We walked to Boggle Hole Youth Hostel, Robin Hood’s Bay, where we stayed the night.  Dad picked us all up in the Land Rover the next day.  Mum came on another school visit to York on June 9th, with 90 children from Green Lane Juniors.
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    Roseberry Topping


On February 24th David brought home two Saudi Arabian student teachers to see us.  One of them, Muhammad indicated that he may wish to stay.  On March 9th Muhammad Misfersuleam moved into our house.  He cooked us an Arabian lunch of Lamb and Rice with Spices.  I say us, but I didn’t eat it, I didn’t do foreign food.  It wasn’t easy having a Saudi Arabian lodger; in a house with so many people (mind you Charlie lived in Liverpool).  Also he didn’t have much respect for women, so it came as no surprise when on March 20th dad politely told Muhammad that he must find alternative accommodation.  On March 23rd (mum’s birthday), mum told Muhammad (not so politely) that he must go.  The following day Muhammad collected his things and went.  The day after that, King Feisal of Saudi Arabia was assassinated. “It wasn’t us, honest! We just wanted our house back”.  Fortunately we had a good alibi as he wasn’t assassinated in Middlesbrough.  Had it happened in Teesside or even North Yorkshire, I think we’d have been the prime suspects.
My brother David bought a Mini car from our neighbour, Mrs Lewis, for £100.  That may sound like a bargain, but looks can be deceiving.  Dave put the car in for an MOT, but it didn’t pass, because of worn ball joints on the steering.  He had to pay to get that repaired and also needed bodywork repairs to make it roadworthy.  Dave did finally get his MOT certificate, however dad had to take the car to Harford Garage to have a new door sill welded in. A few weeks later dad had to help him remove a brake drum to cure a rubbing brake.  The Lewis’s must’ve felt guilty about the car, as they put their house up for sale.  Many prospective buyers came to view No. 4 Thackeray Grove, but the eventual buyers turned out to be none other than Mr. & Mrs. Wigham.  Yes that’s right, my teacher (albeit only for another few weeks) and hiking buddies.  I was going to get some stick at school, ‘Teachers Pet’ etc.  The Lewis’s were long gone when Dave’s £100 Mini had a change of engine on October 27th and a new exhaust on November 14th.  Just when Dave thought that everything was sorted, a motorcyclist collided with his Mini. That bargain had turned into the most expensive second hand car in history!  
I was going to quite a few Boro games now that they were in the top division.  Dave had become a really keen supporter, even going to away games, which was surprising as he’d always supported Bristol City, traitor!  On March 18th I went to see Boro play Everton using Simon Berry’s season ticket.  Simon couldn’t go and he missed a treat.  Boro won 2 – 0 and the second goal by David ‘Spike’ Armstrong was one of the most memorable you’d ever see.  Armstrong cut in from the left wing and curled a great shot into the top corner.  In those days there weren’t TV cameras at many games, so I was one of the privileged few to see such a brilliant goal, sorry Simon.  There was a lot of singing at the football, most of it offensive but you felt obliged to join in.

“In your Everton slums, in your Everton slums, you look in the dustbin for something to eat, you find a dead rat and you think it’s a treat, the dirtiest bastards you ever could meet, in your Everton Slums”. 

Boro did really well in their first season back in the top flight.  They finished 7th and only 5 points behind the eventual winners, Derby County.  They also reached the Quarter Final of the FA Cup before losing 1 -0 to Birmingham City.  Boro even finished the season above Manchester United.  There was a good reason for that, United had been relegated in the 1973/74 season, only six years after winning the European Cup.  Not only were United relegated, but to rub salt into the wound, needing to win their final game against local rivals Manchester City to survive, they lost 1 – 0.  To rub even more salt into that wound, the winning goal was scored by former United legend, Denis Law.  Law's cheeky back-heel gave City the win, but he was devastated to have relegated United  and he didn’t celebrate the goal, walking off the pitch with his head down as he was substituted immediately afterwards.  
My FA Cup Final birthday party 1975 was on May 3rd and the game was between West Ham and Fulham.  The game finished 2 – 0 to West Ham, with both goals being scored by Alan Taylor.  One East End family that missed the game was Ted and Sandra Beckham, as Sandra was busy giving birth to ‘Baby David’ the day before. Ironically, West Ham and England legend Bobby Moore was playing for Fulham that day. Also the 1975 West Ham United team has the distinction of being, the last all-English team to win the FA Cup. I don’t think there’s much chance of that ever happening again. 
Tour de France

Having declined the ‘Baldwin Tour de Europe’ in 1972, I now felt I was old enough to cope with the rigours of International travel,  nothing to do with the fact that I was getting a 3 week holiday (in term time), go back to school for a week, then another 6 weeks off.  What the hell, I’m not going back to that school, with any luck I’d get suspended for that last week and have a 10 stretch.  Hold onto your seats, you’re about to learn more about France than you ever wanted.  

Sunday June 22nd - Mum, dad, Fiona & I left Middlesbrough in our Volkswagen Caravette.  We stopped in London and dad dragged me round the Royal Academy, before we moved onto Ramsgate where we spent the night in the Hover port car park.  315 miles.

Monday June 23rd – We caught the HoverLloyd Hovercraft ‘Sir Christopher’ to Calais.  It was well good, bouncing up and down, people being sick everywhere.  We arrived bruised and battered in Calais, France.  I was the most domestically travelled 11 year old in the British Isles, but this was my first time on foreign soil.  We had breakfast near Boulagne, lunch at Rouen, and then drove along the coast to Trouville and Deauville, finally setting up camp at (Grotsville, AZ) Blonville.  193 miles.
Tuesday June 24th – Visited the market in Deauville and went in the sea at Trouville.  In the afternoon we did a tour of the World War II, D-Day landing beaches, via Pegasus Bridge.  We also had time to visit the ‘Musee de debarquement’ at Ouistreham, the Mulberry harbour at Arromanches and had a quick glimpse at the ‘Bayeux Tapestry’ or should I say ‘Tappisserie de Bayeux’, we were in France after all. The tapestry is 70 metres of embroidered cloth which explained the events leading up to the 1066 Norman invasion of England as well as the events of the invasion itself.  The Normans, led by William the Conqueror, defeated the English at The Battle of Hastings in October 1066 and William went on to be crowned King of England.  We returned to camp at Blonville. 103 miles
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Scenes from the Bayeux Tapestry
Wednesday June 25th – We left Blonville at 10.30am and drove via Caen to Mont St. Michel.  This was the French version of St. Michael’s Mount, which we’d also visited on holiday in Cornwall a couple of years previously. We then went via Rennes, Redon and Missilac where we saw Chateau de la Bretesche.  We finally arrived at Camping La Falaise in La Turballe, Brittany.  216 miles
Thursday June 26th – Thankfully that was the end of travelling for a while as we were going to stay in La Turballe for a week.  We swam in the sea and spent all day on the beach.  David passed his driving test (not in La Turballe, Middlesbrough).  0 miles
Friday June 27th – Another day spent on the beach at la Turballe.  In the afternoon dad took me to La Baule via Guérande. On the way back we saw the salt marshes and fishing boats.  26 miles
Saturday June 28th – Day spent on the beach at La Turballe again.  Visited Guérande again, museum and shops.  In the evening Fiona went to a dance at La Croisic with Peter, a German lad she’d met. 10 miles
Sunday June 29th - We went for a drive via the suspension bridge at La Roche-Bernard.  I was beginning to wonder how long it would be before we had to cross the obligatory Baldwin holiday suspension bridge.  Next stop was Auray – where we saw the old quarter and Locmariaquer to see the Grand Menhir and Merchants Table megaliths (big stones, bit like Stonehenge).  Then to Carnac, to see it’s famous site of more than 3,000 prehistoric standing stones. We returned late to La Turballe.  137 miles
Monday June 30th – It was a really hot day, so we bathed in the sea morning and afternoon. In the evening we went to St. Nazaire and La Baule.  We had beer (well I didn’t) and gaufres (waffles).  40 miles
The Holiday Friend - Invariably when you go on holiday with your parents and older or younger sibling, there is the ‘holiday friend’ scenario.  They are normally British, roughly the same age and in a similar situation to you.  Initial contact is usually made in the camp site or on the beach.  “Do you want to play?”  “Yeah, OK”.  You then proceed to brag (lie) about how rich your dad is, how good your car is, all the places you’ve been, etc.  On this holiday I made two friends, Anine Leakey and Brian Blackett.  We had a great time in La Turballe, but when it’s time to go, you know you’re never going to see them again, or will you? In 1977 there was to be one of life’s one in a million occurrences, but you’ll have to wait to find out what it was.  
Tuesday July 1st – Dad changed £150 in traveller’s cheques for 1327.50 French Francs (The pound was at its lowest ebb). We went shopping in La Turballe in the evening, and then went to Piriac to play crazy golf.  29 miles 
Wednesday July 2nd – We went shopping at La Turballe market and dad bought a fish for lunch, great! In the afternoon we went swimming in the sea.  In the evening we had crepes and a gallette at ‘La Chaumiere’ in la Turballe.  I had my photo taken with my ‘holiday friends’, Anine and Brian. 0 miles 
Thursday July 3rd - Anine’s Norwegian mother, Borghild Leakey was taken ill.  Dad called a doctor to come and see her. 0 miles

Friday July 4th – We left La Turballe and drove to Nantes.  We walked round the city, saw the Cathedral and Castle.  After leaving Nantes we headed for the Loire Valley, to Angers, then Saumur and Tours.  We camped at ‘Les Peuphers’, Montlouis.  84 miles
Loire Valley (French: Vallée de la Loire) is known as the Garden of France  It is noteworthy for the quality of its architectural heritage, in its historic towns such as Amboise, Angers, Blois, Chinon, Nantes, Orléans, Saumur, and Tours, but in particular for its world-famous castles, such as the Châteaux d'Amboise, Château de Chambord, Château de Villandry and Chenonceau. The Loire Valley is also home to some fine wines.

Saturday July 5th – We visited Château de Chenonceau, then to Amboise to see Leonardo da Vinci’s house Clos-Lucé. In Amboise we also saw girls in costumes, dancing in the town.  Back at Montlouis we visited a cave and dad bought three bottles of Montlouis wine. 30 miles
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 Château de Chenonceau

 
  Château de Blois

          Château du Clos-Lucé
Sunday July 6th – We left Montlouis at 10.30am and visited Château de Blois, then had lunch outside Château de Ménars.  After lunch we drove via Orléans, N20 to Versailles and camped at Maisons – Laffitte.165 miles
Monday July 7th – We visited Paris.  In the morning dad, Fiona and I went to the top of the Eiffel Tower (12Fr. each).  Well you’ve got to go to the top haven’t you? It’s not like you’re going to be climbing the Eiffel Tower that often.  After lunch we visited the Louvre, saw the Mona Lisa, she didn’t look too happy though.  In the Tuileries Gardens near the Louvre, I went on a parachute jump trainer and cliff climb.  In the gardens there were a number of fountains, which had the biggest Carp you’re ever likely to see, they were more like Sharks!  We returned to Maisons – Laffitte late, after an action packed day out in Paris. 29 miles
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  The Eiffel Tower
                      Tuileries Gardens


         Mona Lisa
Tuesday July 8th – It was really hot! We left Maisons – Laffitte, had lunch at Chantilly.  Then drove north via Amiens, Abbeville to Berck-s-Mer.  We camped at Camping International F4.  In the evening there was thunder, lightning and heavy rain.  151 miles 
Wednesday July 9th – A hot and sunny day at Berck Plage.  We spent the day on the beach where dad and I swam in the sea.  In the evening Fiona went to a disco at the JB Club on the camp. 10 miles 

Thursday July 10th – Our magnificent French adventure was coming to an end.  We drove to Calais and crossed the channel on the 2pm hovercraft.  Back on home soil, we headed for Essex to see Nanna in her flat at Tiptree. We then stayed the night with the Bonner’s at Hole Farm.  170 miles
Friday July 11th – We picked strawberries and raspberries at Hole Farm (I didn’t eat any while I was picking, honest Barry).  Saw Nanna again and Auntie Susan at Cressing. Finally we set off home to Middlesbrough, after almost 3 weeks away.  254 miles
It was good to be home, you can only eat so many frogs’ legs, snails and garlic.  Not really, I think the most adventurous thing I tried was a bit of Camembert. I didn’t really like that either, give me a lump of mild cheddar any day.

20 Days - 1962 miles

A few days after we returned from France, we had a visitor, Eric Munch, one of the French exchange students who stayed with us the previous year.  He was here on another exchange holiday.  Excuse me if I’m being stupid, but if you were going to return to Britain for a holiday and the first holiday was in Middlesbrough, would you not go somewhere a bit more exciting, like London! 
London or Middlesbrough?  It’s a bit like offering someone Cake or Death?

“You, Cake or Death?”, “I’ll have Cake please.” “You, Cake or Death?”, “I’ll have Cake as well please.” “You, Cake or Death?”, “Death please, no I mean Cake.”  “You said Death first. Oh here you go have some Cake.” “You, Cake or Death?”, “Cake please.” ” Sorry we’re out of Cake, we weren’t expecting such a rush.”. “So my choice is, or Death?” 
On 2nd September I started Secondary School (Big School).  Most of us leaving Green Lane Junior School had been assigned one of three schools in Acklam.  My best friend Simon Berry was going to Hustler School, others went to Boynton School, but I was going to Kings Manor School. Boynton and Hustler were on one side of Hall Drive and Kings Manor on the other.  Kings Manor was just a normal Secondary School, but was set in the grounds of Acklam Hall.  Acklam Hall was steeped in history and dominated the landscape.
History of Acklam Hall - Doomsday Book records show that the King held a manor at Acklam (probably from Old English meaning a “place of oaks”). In 1277, the King’s Treasurer made an inquiry concerning the duties of knights to supply men-at-arms for the King.  The inquiry reported that William de Boynton had land at Acklam.  A similar inquiry in 1303 reported that Acklam was held by Ingelram de Boynton.  The manor of Acklam came to the Boynton’s through the marriage of Sir Ingleram de Boynton to a daughter of the house of Acclun (or Acclam) in the time of Henry I. In 1612, Francis Boynton rented Acklam Grange to William Hustler, a wealthy draper from Bridlington.  In 1637, Francis’ son Matthew Boynton sold Acklam Grange to William Hustler. The grandson of William Hustler I was knighted in 1678.  This Sir William Hustler built the Hall in 1683 in the contemporary fashionable style, showing some Dutch influence in the gables (now gone). The Hall continued in the Hustler family, but there were changes of name.  For example, at the end of the 18th century, there was no direct male heir of the Hustler family; the two elder sons had died.  The third child, Anne, married Thomas Peirse, and the house was owned by an eccentric sister, Everald.  She settled the Hall and estate on her nephew, Thomas, on condition that he changes his name to Thomas Hustler.  He married Constance Boynton, a descendant of the previous owners of the estate.  In the 19th century when there was no direct male heir, the estate passed to a nephew, Hustler Hopkins, who changed his name to Hustler Hustler on inheriting the estate.

The Hall and grounds of over 40 acres, including the tree-lined avenue and land almost to Ladgate Lane, were purchased by Middlesbrough Corporation in 1928 from the last owner, Mostyn Hustler.  The auctioneer’s list suggests that no bids were received, and the sum offered by the Corporation was £11,500.
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                                                      Acklam Hall and campus buildings.

Acklam Hall School opened in 1935.  In 1958 the remaining ornamental gardens were removed and the extensions built for Acklam Hall Grammar School, consisting of Hall, woodwork and art rooms and classrooms.  In 1968 Acklam Hall Grammar School merged with Kirby Girls’ Grammar School to form Acklam High School.  In the same year, the main school block was built for Acklam High School and in 1969-71 the last flower beds were removed for the 6th form block (now ‘C’ block).  In 1974 Acklam High School split to form Kings Manor 11-16 School and Acklam 6th Form College.  Accommodation in the Manor House was shared. 
Features of the House - Acklam Hall has many fine architectural features. Saloon Hall (now The Board Room) – entrance hall with ornate plaster ceiling added in 1912. The Dining Room (now the Staff Room) - was extension added in 1912 by Walter Brierley of York.  Smoking Room (now the Exams Office) – coloured marble hearth and mantel, probably of Frosterley marble; plaster ceiling with a device of acorns. Boudoir (now the Registry Office) – panelled walls, carved wood mantel, moulded plaster ceiling of the period 1683, painted ceiling panel in a primitive style. Staircase – constructed from painted pine, with a bold frieze; ball-capped newel posts and an unusual double spiral baluster.  Throughout, the doors are original and so too are some of the door fitments. Drawing Room (now the Conference Room and Art Gallery) – originally 3 separate rooms; in the alterations of 1912, two rooms were joined.  At the west end there was a third room, known in the inventory as the “King’s Room” – no connection with any Royal visit, it was simply a custom in country houses.  This third room was joined to the other two in the alterations after 1928.  The two drawing rooms have fine plaster ceilings and painted panels, a Royal coat of arms and the bearings of the Hustler family.   Carved wood mantel with Hustler arms and motto, ‘Aut numquam tentes aut perfice’, this was adopted by the school with permission from Mostyn Hustler. Mr. Hustler’s Bedroom (now Room A20) – had wooden panelling and primitive painting above mantel.  Queen’s Room (now Room A22) – with marble mantel and primitive painting.  The second floor was added in the reconstruction in 1912.  The carved plaster ceiling above the stairwell was lifted and the rooms built around it.  The rooms on the second floor consisted of servants’ bedrooms and domestic offices, and four visitors’ bedrooms and bathroom. 

In 1935 Acklam Hall Secondary School consisted of the following accommodation: 
Art Room (dining room); Library (entrance hall); Geography Room (smoking room); Headmaster’s Room (boudoir); Dining Room and Kitchen (now gone). On the first floor there were four classrooms, a Staff Room (room A22, Queen’s Room) and an Assembly Hall (drawing room).  On the second floor were 8 classrooms and a Prefects’ room. The north wing was demolished and in its place was built: gymnasium, changing room and showers, chemistry and physics labs, metalwork and woodwork rooms.
Anyway, back to my first day at school.  It was very nerve racking, but I think my teacher was more nervous. It’s our first day at school and we’re sitting there listening to our tutor, Mr. Burney, twittering on about timetables, etc.  When suddenly he started shaking uncontrollably and foaming at the mouth.  We didn’t know what to do, but fortunately some of the girls were screaming their heads off, which alerted another teacher to come and help.  It turned out that Mr. Burney had suffered an epileptic fit. 
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               First day at School
We were split into 4 ‘Houses’.  That’s not a house like you live in; it’s just a name for a group you’re put in.  It’s mainly for school sports and other Inter-House competitions.  I was in BRUCE and we wore BLUE.  The other houses were BALLIOL (RED), MEYNELL (YELLOW) and MULGRAVE (WHITE).  They were all named after something local, but I can’t remember what.  Each house would elect a ‘House Captain’, whose job it was to rally fellow house-members and to pick individuals for team events.  Bruce House had some famous former pupils, including Brothers Alan and Chris Old, who represented England at Rugby and Cricket, also England cricketer Bill Athey.  Bill Athey actually lived on the corner of Roman Road and Green Lane, opposite Thackeray Grove, where we lived.
 I caught the sport bug quite early at school and even got involved in a Mini Rugby league.  Some of the 5th formers gave up some time to coach us 1st formers.  Our coach was called Keith Moon (not the drummer in ‘The Who’, I’m not that old) and he called our team ‘Moon’s Marauders’.  Mini Rugby involved a game of touch rugby, which was aimed at giving us passing and running skills at an early age.  I must have shown promise as I was selected to play mini-rugby at Acklam Park for Kings Manor against other Darlington and Middlesbrough teams.  Was I going to be the next Bruce House England star?
In our first year at school we studied your usual subjects, English, Maths, Geography, Art, Biology, Chemistry, but I wasn’t expecting to be doing Home Economics (Sewing & Cooking).  That’s what we had a Mum for, isn’t it?  Jamie Oliver would’ve been proud, northern town, 11 year old kids cooking gourmet food.  Well maybe I exaggerated slightly; we made Cheese Scones, a Victoria Sponge Cake and Welsh rarebit (Cheese on toast, with onions).  Cooking wasn’t too difficult, but sewing was a completely different kettle of fish.  At least with cooking there was something to eat (sometimes) at the end of it.  It wasn’t as if you’re going to design and make your own clothes.  It took me the whole of the first term to sew together two pieces of material with stuffing, to make a pin cushion.
Every generation of kids growing up, love their TV and especially the cartoons.  Each generation is also very protective of their characters and reckon they have the best Super Heroes.  We had some classic shows in the 70’s, The Hair Bear Bunch, Inch High Private Eye, the Pink Panther Show, Wacky Races, Top Cat and Hong Kong Phooey.    I think the only fair way to decide the best Super Hero of say the 70’s and 80’s is to have a FIGHT.  “In the blue corner, representing kids of the 70’s, Hong Kong Phooey” and “In the red corner, representing kids of the 80’s, DangerMouse”.  As I was a kid of the 70’s, I’d got to hope that HKP gave DM a good hiding. 
Hong Kong Phooey was the secret alter ego of Penrod Pooch, or Penry (sometimes mispronounced "Henry"), a ‘mild-mannered’ police station janitor. Hong Kong Phooey was supposedly a master of kung fu and other martial arts. He worked with Sergeant Flint (‘Sarge’) and Rosemary, the telephone operator, who had a crush on him. After Rosemary takes a call and explains the crime, Penry runs into a filing cabinet (and always get stuck) to transform himself into Hong Kong Phooey. He usually enters the lower drawer as Penrod and leaves the upper one as Hong Kong Phooey. Phooey gets into his Phooeymobile and uses the ‘bong of the gong’ to turn it into whatever sort of vehicle best suits the occasion. He finds the thieves committing their crime but his faithful companion Spot (the Police Cat) is usually the one who finds a way to capture the criminals and foil their crime. Because Hong Kong is the reputed superhero, every time Spot saves the day, everyone else (including Phooey) credits Hong Kong Phooey with being the hero. 
DangerMouse is a British mouse who works as a secret agent.  The hero wore a rakish eye patch and his chest was prominently emblazoned with the initials 'DM'.  He was the greatest secret agent in the world. He spoke 34 languages fluently, including some extraterrestrial ones. He regularly balanced himself on his index finger and bounced up and down on it. Ernest Penfold was a timid, bespectacled hamster. Penfold stood just over half the height of DangerMouse, and always wore thick round glasses and a blue suit with a white shirt and a yellow and black stripy tie. He was the sidekick of DangerMouse, whom he called ‘Chief’. He was of a cowardly nature and became terrified at any sign of danger. He was often captured or got himself into other dangerous situations before needing to be rescued by DangerMouse. His main catchphrase was "Crumbs DM!" and others included "Ooh-eck!", "Ooh-Fiddle!" and "Ooh-Carrots!” all said when things went wrong.
Tale (Tail) of the Tape
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     Hong Kong Phooey

   Danger Mouse                      Muhammad Ali
Height


3-5


        3-0



        6-3


Weight

 
28½


        19½


                       210½

Reach


38


        34



        82
 

Chest/Norm               
15 


        13



        43


Chest/Exp

17


        15  
                                                     45½ 
Waist


14


        12    


        34

Biceps


 4


         3 



      15½
Neck


 6


         4½



         17½ 

Wrist                          3


         2 



      8
Calf                            5


         4



         17 

Ankle


 3


         2 



      10
Thigh


 6 


         4
                   

         25

Fist


 4


      3½



      12½

Forearm

            4


         3 



      15

The mid 1970’s weren’t a good time to be a Barber.  The fashion for scissor dodging teenagers was to have long hair and grow sideburns.  It’s a wonder they didn’t go out of business, probably saved by the old boys who still liked their short back and sides.  I would still occasionally go to the barbers, but a lot of the time mum would cut my hair.  This would involve putting a bowl over my head and cutting round the bottom, hence the term ‘Basin Cut’.  However too many basin cuts would leave a mass of floppy hair on top.  This is where the barber would give you a trim.  Why did those back street barbers always have black & white photos of male models with designer haircuts? It’s not like they got their hair cut in there.  Also, when you’d had your hair cut, they show you the back of your head in a mirror.  What can you do, they’ve already cut it.  “No, not like that, I wanted it in the shape of a Swan smoking a cigar”.

You’d have thought that after four years of living up North the novelty of visiting this Northern industrial outpost would’ve worn off.  However we still had a regular supply of willing visitors wanting to experience the famous Northern hospitality.
In the summer holidays my Auntie Susan, Uncle Frank and family would often stay in Burnsall in the Yorkshire Dales. While on holiday they phoned dad and he invited them to come and see us.  On Saturday 16th August, Frank, Susan, Andrew, Ian and Fiona came and Ken Crawshaw too.  [Ken Crawshaw was dad’s stepfather, he was married to Nanna Kathleen and they had two daughters, Susan and Cherry.] Dad showed them his bridge, surprise, surprise. I mean, it’s not even a proper bridge, it’s a flyover.  At the end of October, after a fog delay, Uncle Julian, Auntie Elisabet, Nicholas and Peter came to stay.  We took them to Whitby for the day and visited Staithes and Redcar on the way back.  We also went over the Tees Bridge and the Transporter Bridge. Now that’s a proper bridge.  The Transporter Bridge was different to most bridges, in that it didn’t have a road.  Cars and Pedestrians were ‘transported’ across the river on a platform.  I think I was starting to realise why we’d moved to Teesside, it was a hotbed of bridge building.  Many of the world's greatest bridges including the nearby Tees Newport Bridge, the Tyne Bridge and the famous Sydney Harbour Bridge in Australia were designed and constructed from Dorman Long steel.  So dad, why didn’t you get jobs like the Sydney Harbour Bridge?   
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 The Transporter Bridge

       
      Sydney Harbour Bridge
Ann Wigham told us on the 6th December that she was expecting a baby.  I was quite excited, as I’d always been the youngest in our family and it would be like having a younger brother or sister, even better we wouldn’t have to look after the screaming baby.  The baby was due in July 1976. 

1975 Facts & Figures

Feb 11th   - Margaret Thatcher became the first woman leader of a British Political party.

Feb 28th – A tube train rammed in a dead-end tunnel, at Moorgate, killing the driver and 34 passengers.
Mar 4th - Charlie Chaplin, aged 85, received a knighthood from the Queen.
April 4th – Bill Gates founds Microsoft in Albuquerque, New Mexico, USA.

April 17th – Cambodia fell under the control of the Communist Khmer Rouge, when the capital Phnom Penh surrendered. 
April 31st – The war in Vietnam ended after Saigon surrendered to the North Vietnamese.
June 3rd – Pele signed a $7 million 3 year contract with the New York Cosmos.

June 18th – Britain’s first North Sea oil came ashore to BP’s Isle of Grain refinery.
June 21st – The West Indies won Cricket’s first World Cup, beating Australia by 17 runs in the final at Lords.
Sep 9th – 18 year old Czechoslovakian tennis star, Martina Navratilova requested political asylum in the USA.

Sep 16th – The Lebanese capital Beirut was torn apart by Civil War between Christians and Moslems.
Oct 1st -Thriller in Manila: Muhammad Ali defeats Joe Frazier in a boxing match in Manila, Philippines.
Nov 22nd – Following the Death of Gen. Franco, monarchy returns to Spain for the first time since 1931.
Dec 21st - Six people, including, Carlos (the Jackal) kidnap delegates of an OPEC conference in Vienna.
Hits of 1975, Bohemian Rhapsody (Queen), I’m not in Love (10cc), Sailing (Rod Stewart), Bye Bye Baby (Bay City Rollers).
New TV shows in 1975, The Sweeney, Fawlty Towers, and Jim’ll fix it.
Jaws - was a 1975 thriller/horror film directed by Steven Spielberg and based on Peter Benchley's best-selling novel.  The Police chief of Amity Island, a fictional summer resort town, tries to protect beachgoers from a giant great white shark.  It was the first movie to ever Gross $100 million at the Box office.
Births

May 2nd - David Beckham, English Footballer.

Dec 30th – Tiger Woods, US Golfer.

Ant n’ Dec – Declan Donnelly, 25th Sep, Anthony McPartlin, 18th Nov.
Deaths

Feb 14th – Sir Pelham Grenville (P.G.) Wodehouse, British-born US Author, died aged 93.
Mar 15th – Aristotle Onassis, Greek shipping magnate, died aged 69.
Mar 25th – King Faisal of Saudi Arabia, assassinated by his nephew Prince Museid, died aged 69.

Apr 23rd – William Hartnell, English actor, the first Doctor Who, died aged 67.

Nov 20th - Francisco Paulino Hermenegildo Teódulo Franco y Bahamonde, Salgado y Pardo de Andrade, General Franco, Spanish Dictator, died aged 82.
Nov 27th - Ross McWhirter, Co-founder of the Guinness Book of Records, assassinated by the provisional IRA, died aged 50.
Nov 29th - Graham Hill, British racing driver and two-time Formula One World Champion, died in a plane crash, aged 46.
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The summer of 1976 was the hottest summer in the UK since records began. As well as the heat, Britain was in the middle of a severe drought.   The temperature reached 80°F (26.7°C) every day between 22 June and 16 July.  The hottest day of all was 3 July, with temperatures reaching 35.9°C (96.6°F) in Cheltenham, one of the hottest July days on record in the UK.  July 3rd also saw the birth of little Kate Wigham.   She must’ve been getting too hot and wanted to get out and cool down a bit.  Baby Kate was a bit tiny and had to go into a special baby care unit, but she came home to Thackeray Grove fit and healthy soon afterwards. 

The great drought was due to a very long dry period. The summer and autumn of 1975 were very dry, and the winter of 1975-76 was exceptionally dry, as was the spring of 1976, indeed some months during this period had no rain at all in some areas.  The drought was at its most severe in August 1976. Parts of the south west went 45 days without any rain in July and August.  The effect on domestic water supplies led to the passing of a Drought Act by parliament. There was widespread water rationing and public standpipes in some affected areas. Reservoirs were at an extremely low level, as were some rivers. A Minister for Drought, Denis Howell, was even appointed.   In the last week of August, severe thunderstorms brought rain to some places for the first time in weeks. September and October 1976 were both very wet months, and the great drought of 1976 had finally ended.

I was getting that feeling that we might be on the move again. Dad’s bridge was all but finished and that usually meant one thing, move somewhere miles from my friends, just when I was settled.  I found a letter from C.H. Dobbie & Partners, offering dad a job in Ipswich for £5,500 p.a. I looked up Ipswich on the map and saw that it wasn’t far from Essex, dad’s spiritual home. We’re definitely going there; I might as well pack my bag.  I’d gone from being a ‘West Country Bumpkin’ to a ‘Northern Monkey’ to whatever they were in Ipswich (‘Tractor Boys’).  However the following week I overheard dad on the phone to someone at C.H. Dobbie (I’m a nosey bugger aren’t I? I’m a kid it’s my job).  Dad was playing hardball, as the offer of £5,500 was less than his current £6,500.  Dad decided to further his options and applied for a job on the Humber Bridge.  They liked dad, but wanted him sooner rather than later, so dad turned his attention to yet another bridge, closer to home.  They were going to build a bridge across the River Tyne in Newcastle for the Metro.  Dad had an interview, and then was invited to lunch at The Astor Club in Newcastle, with Peter McIlroy and George Taylor of W.A. Fairhurst & Partners.  They offered him the job and not only that, the salary was £7,250 p.a. and we didn’t have to move, what a result.
My brother Charlie was now living in Manchester as he had a job with a company called Brown Bros. For travelling to work and between Manchester and Middlesbrough he bought a motorbike from his friend Martyn French.  It was a Yamaha 200 and he paid him £320.  Now there’s a disaster waiting to happen!  In fact the first time he tried to ride his bike, there had been a snowfall of about 6ins, so dad had to drive him and his motorbike back to Manchester in his Land Rover.  When dad phoned him a few days later Charlie had to admit that he hadn’t been able to start his motorbike.  It doesn’t pay to buy vehicles from friends or neighbours (see Dave’s £100 Mini – 1975).  A week later we had a phone call to say that Charlie had crashed his motorbike into a car and was taken to hospital in Manchester. No bones broken just pride!  On the bright side, at least he could now get the bike started.   Dad sent him £25 to get his motorbike repaired.  Charlie phoned back a week later to say that his bike was mended (£47).  Not sure if the ‘Bank of Dad’ wrote another cheque for £22.  However, it wasn’t all doom and gloom for Charlie (20).  Mum phoned him and he was having a meal with his new girlfriend, Louisa (25) and she planned to take him to Paris.  We met her at Easter, when they came to stay. 

Anyway, back to this motorbike.  Charlie phoned at the end of April to say that the bike required further repairs estimated at £100.  However, again bad news was followed by good as Charlie moved into Louisa’s flat on the 30th April. Unfortunately it didn’t last long, infact he was thrown out the following day; he hadn’t even unpacked his bag.  Dad had to collect him and his belongings and bring him back to Middlesbrough.  At least Charlie managed to get a transfer to Brown Bros’ Stockton office.  Months later he went by train to Manchester to collect his repaired motorbike.  Unfortunately they wouldn’t accept his cheque, so he came back by train without it.  A few days later he went back with a wad of cash and managed to get his bike back and return safely to Middlesbrough.  He did however lose his wallet and cheque book. They were returned to him a week later fortunately.  You’re not going to believe this, but a few days later Charlie came off his motorbike late at night on a country road near Moorsholm.  Dave had to go and fetch him and bring him back home.  Charlie eventually sold his Yamaha 200 motorbike for £295 on Sept 3rd.

Most kids in the 70’s loved to collect things, me probably more than your average 11 – 12 year old.  I’d been collecting postcards with Simon Berry for a while and we had hundreds.  We would stick them in a scrapbook and write the location next to the card.  However our main focus of collecting was football cards and stickers.  Remember back then we only had 3 TV channels, Action Man, Airfix models and football cards.  Like many boys who were born in the 1960's, collecting football cards and stickers was a prominent part of my childhood. I can recall many lunchtimes spent in the school playground persuading classmates to make that vital trade in order to complete a particular team set or collection.  Most of my after-school hours were spent opening packets of cards or stickers, in pursuit of that elusive Ray Train (Carlisle Utd. in case you had forgotten), or maybe a Luton Town badge.
In the 1974/75 season a company called FKS had brought out a brilliant sticker album called ‘The Wonderful World of Soccer Stars 1974/75’.  You would buy packs of stickers and try to complete your album.  There were about 15 players to collect for each of the 22 1st Division teams.   The world of football sticker collecting was changed forever when ‘Panini’ took over the English league sticker collection in 1978, with ‘Football 1978’ (see 1978 for more about Panini).  
Topps, well known (if living in America) US Baseball, Basketball and American Football card producer, decided they wanted some of the UK and Europe card collecting pie. They introduced the Shoot! Goal! All-Stars and Great Britain Select Eleven Sub Sets. Being American they couldn’t just sell you a packet of football trading cards, each pack contained a pink strip of Bazooka bubble gum.  The quantity of pink gum that I must have chomped my way through during that period of my life doesn’t bare thinking about.
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The back of the cards had cartoon captions containing general facts surrounding the game of football or that player. They also had stats on that player and a space to enter that seasons figures.
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On November 15th mum and dad went to Kings Manor School, to get my school report from my tutor, Mr. Burney. However the big news from the school that day was that our appropriately named Headmaster, Mr. Boddy, had died. You could say he was ‘Mr. Dead Boddy’.  What was it with this school; first Mr. Burney had an epileptic fit on our first day, now Mr. Boddy had kicked the bucket.

My school report said that I was doing alright in most subjects, except Geography, but there’s a reason for that.  Our Geography teacher was a Mr. Fred Codling, affectionately known as ‘Fred Cod’.   He was like some tramp in his mid 50’s who somehow came to be our teacher.  I doubt anyone had a good report for Geography, as all we did in Fred Cod’s class was muck about.  I’m not proud of myself, but it’s very difficult with peer pressure to stand up and say “Come on now, quieten down, Mr. Codling is trying to teach”.  This one time near Bonfire Night, we were all waiting quietly for Fred Cod to arrive.  We had those fold down desks with ink wells.  He came into the classroom and must’ve been pleased that everyone was sitting quietly, but then all hell broke loose!  The ringleaders (not me, I was a sheep) all had Bangers, which they lit and then lifted the lid of their desk and threw the Banger in.  It was like a World War II battle ground.  Fred Cod completely freaked and didn’t know which way to turn as he didn’t know where the noise was coming from.  He was shouting and screaming, and then all of a sudden his false teeth fell out into his hands. Everyone was in stitches.  On another occasion in Home Economics, we had to pair up and organise a Tea Party, where we invited a Fifth Form pupil and a teacher.  We had to lay on crust less triangular cucumber sandwiches, a pot of tea and cakes. We decided to invite the school hard man and Fred Cod.  It was a bit of a ‘Mad Hatters Tea Party”.  

My favourite subject was P.E., if you can call that a subject. As you may have gathered I was football mad, but there was something about Kings Manor School that made it feel a bit Tom Brown Schooldays.  It was probably Acklam Hall and other buildings such as the Science Block, which was set in a courtyard.  Even the changing rooms were in an old style out-building, probably a stable.  Because of this feeling I wanted to play rugby rather than football.  Having played Mini Rugby and showed promise, I was delighted to be picked for the school team and I bagged one of the glamour positions, Scrum Half.  If I could keep that position then I’d be able to avoid ‘Cauliflower Ears’ in later life. Leave the hard work to the bigger boys like Mark Roddan.  On Feb 5th we played a game against Hustler school and won 28 – 0.   On April 8th we had an Inter-House Rugby Sevens.  I scored a try, but our house Bruce, lost the final by a conversion.  I was gutted!  On September 23rd we played our first game of the new season, as a 2nd year pupil.  I scored our teams first try and we won 18 – 7.  One of my school friends, Simon Hall, was also in the rugby team and he was the fastest runner in our year.  One of our main tactics was to get the ball to Simon and hope he could out sprint the opposition without the need for support, as we couldn’t keep up with him. 

Simon was also the best in our year at Cross Country.  The Cross Country course was basically run round the school grounds twice. We started at the back of the school, ran round the back rugby pitch, and then entered the woods that went right round the school perimeter, past the football pitch, all weather pitch, bike sheds, front rugby pitch, school pond, cricket pitch and 6th Form College.  You came out of the woods briefly while running across the front of the school and on the second lap those of us lagging behind would take a slight detour straight down the school drive, cutting out the need to run round the cricket pitch and 6th form college.  When I said I liked P.E. there were exceptions!  

My first real heartbreak (there were to be many) as a Boro fan occurred in 1976.  Everything had gone great since I started supporting them, promotion to Division 1 and finished 7th in the first season in the top division.  In the 1975/76 season Boro had a disappointing defeat in the 3rd round of the FA Cup, losing in a replay to Bury.  However, it was a different story in the League Cup where Middlesbrough overcame Bury, Derby County, Peterborough United and Burnley to set up a semi-final meeting with Manchester City.  I went to the first leg and John Hickton gave Boro a 1 – 0 lead in front of 34,579 fans at Ayresome Park.  The following week was the 2nd leg at Maine Road.  I was ridiculously excited and my ear was glued to the radio. However, it all went horribly wrong.  Man City won 4 – 0, with goals from Ged Keegan, Alan Oakes, Peter Barnes and Joe Royle.  I listened right until the end still believing that Boro would win, but I wish I’d turned the radio off, because the stupid commentator got carried away at the end and said “The referee looks at his whistle and blows his watch”.  Normally I would find that quite funny, but on this occasion why don’t they just piss off!   They did however end the season with some Silverware.  Boro were entered in the Anglo Scottish Cup (previously the Texaco Cup featuring teams from England, Scotland, Wales and the Republic of Ireland who had just missed out on European competition), which was narrowed down to feature just English and Scottish teams after Texaco ended their sponsorship.  In the Final, Boro played Fulham, who’d qualified as beaten FA Cup finalists the previous season.  The competition hardly captured the public’s imagination with only 14,700 watching the first leg, which Boro won 1 – 0, courtesy of a Les Strong own goal.  The 2nd leg at Craven Cottage finished 0 – 0 and Boro won their first ever trophy in 100 years of trying. 

It wasn’t just football that we went to watch. Having your best friend’s dad being the Sports Editor of the Evening Gazette opened up a whole new world of sport viewing.  We would often go to Speedway at Cleveland Park to watch the ‘Teesside Tigers’, which was great fun.  The highlight of the night would be when one of the riders took the corner too wide or clipped another rider’s wheel, resulting in a spectacular crash.  They always seemed to get up and would be riding again in 15 minutes.  That smell of the cinder track in your face stays with you forever. 

Most people associate the Embassy World Snooker Championship with The Crucible Theatre in Sheffield, but it didn’t start there until 1977.  In 1976 the top half of the draw was held at Middlesbrough Town Hall, with the bottom half and the Final held in Manchester. We went along and saw Ray Reardon storm through the top half of the draw, beating players such as Dennis Taylor and Perrie Mans on his way to the Final.  In the bottom half of the draw Alex Higgins saw off Cliff Thorburn, John Spencer and Eddie Charlton to reach a showdown with Ray Reardon.  Unfortunately the Final was held in Manchester, but our man Ray thrashed Mr. Higgins 27 – 16 in the Best of 53 Frames Final.  The winner won £6,000. 

Another thing we went to watch at Middlesbrough Town Hall was Professional Wresting.  It was hardly Professional.  It was carefully stage managed with the same characters pretending to hurt each other.  The main rivalry was between two man mountains, Big Daddy and Giant Haystacks. They would take turns in climbing the ropes in the corner of the ring and belly flopping on their opponent, then prematurely celebrating victory with their back to their rival, only for them to make a miraculous recovery and floor their opponent from behind.  This would go on until whoever’s turn it was to win, would get the other to submit.  All of the wrestlers on show also appeared on the ITV programme World of Sport.  John Logie Baird would be turning in his grave, knowing that his invention was being used to transmit such rubbish to the British public. 

The World of Sport
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                 Big Daddy and Giant Haystacks 


           Dickie Davies

World of Sport was a Saturday afternoon tradition, Dickie Davies, On the Ball, the ITV Seven, Wide World of Sports, Wrestling and Full Time Results Service.  

1230 On the Ball - with Brian Moore, the weekly Saturday lunchtime football round-up.  It was a long-term rival to Football Focus on the BBC. 

{In those days all the games kicked off at 3 pm and no league games were shown Live.  Brian Moore also presented the Sunday afternoon show The Big Match on LWT (London Weekend Television), which showed highlights of selected games from Saturday.  This was also a long-term rival to Match of the Day on the BBC on a Saturday night.  In the North East they didn’t show The Big Match; we had Shoot, which showed highlights of the North East game of the weekend.  However some weeks they didn’t have a big game and just showed The Big Match instead.  The commentator on Shoot in the mid 70’s was Kenneth Wolstenholme, who famously commentated on the World Cup Final in 1966, “Some people are on the pitch, they think it’s all over. It is now”.  On 1st February 1976 they showed the North East derby between Boro and Newcastle.  I was keen to watch the game on TV as I’d been with my brother Dave and had deliberately ran on the pitch at the end and headed for the tunnel.  The game itself was a classic, but tragic for a Boro supporter.  Boro were cruising at 3 – 1 with goals from David Mills, Willie Maddren and a magnificent diving header o.g. by Glen Keeley, Alan Gowling had what looked like a consolation for Newcastle. Then in injury time at the end of the game the unthinkable happened, first Alan Kennedy made it 3 – 2 and straight from the kick off Newcastle went down the other end and Irving Nattrass made it 3 – 3 with virtually the last kick of the game.  At least I was on TV!} 

1300 Sports Special 1 - A wide array of sports, often including clips from US show Wide World of Sports. Less prominent sports such as bowls, water skiing, speedway, rallying and others would also feature. 

1330 Racing, the ITV Seven. I wasn’t really interested in this as I was too young to bet and had no interest in Horse Racing except for maybe the Grand National.  It was called the ITV Seven, because they showed seven races each week. The ITV Seven was also the title of a fiendishly difficult accumulator bet where vast sums of money could be won if you correctly predicted the winners of all seven races.
1500 Sports Special 2 - see Sports Special 1. 

1545 Half-Time Scores - the half-time scores from that day's football, plus racing results from races that had taken place in the previous hour. 

1600 Wrestling – Was the mainstay of the World of Sport schedule. It made household names of wrestlers such as Big Daddy, Giant Haystacks, Kendo Nagasaki and Mick McManus.  

1645 Results Service - all the full-time football scores, match reports and league tables plus the last of the day's horse racing results. 
I was now getting quite good at golf and would regularly play with Simon Berry at the Pitch & Putt course at Prissick Base, in Marton.  However this only wetted my appetite to play on a proper course.  Fortunately I had a friend at school, Paul Pickersgill (whose dad just happened to be the Deputy Head), who was equally keen on golf and he invited me to play at Dinsdale Golf Club.  I was very nervous on the 1st tee, as people were watching and you had the added distraction of the Club House on the right, which seemed to have an inordinate amount of glass! After two air shots I managed to top one that went skipping over the Ladies Tee and ended in the middle of the fairway, only another 357 yards to go.  I was ok once we were out of view of spectators.  It was great playing at Dinsdale but it was miles away and involved being dropped off and picked up.  So it was with great delight when I learned that they were building a Municipal Golf Course just the other side of Hustler and Boynton schools, it was due to open in 1977.  
Dave’s passion was cars (and women hopefully), not just driving them but watching Motorsport.  On Feb 21st he went to Scarborough to see the Mintex Car Rally.  Then a few weeks later he bought himself a Vauxhall Viva; Reg. JHV 831D.  Not exactly a new car and it was treated accordingly – thrashed to death! He sold it on June 15th for £150.  On April 10th he went to Silverstone to see a weekend of Car racing and he managed to get the autograph of British Formula 1 driver, James Hunt.  On July 12th he bought his coveted Lancia car, complete with rally roll-bars on the inside.  It also had a Union Jack painted on the roof.  On July 16th he went to Brands Hatch in Kent, to see the British Grand Prix.  Not sure if his friend Mr. Hunt gave him tickets.  James Hunt duly won the Grand Prix, only to be disqualified later, but he wasn’t to be denied and went on to be 1976 F1 World Champion.  

Charlie and Dave were always off camping or rock climbing with friends.  On Feb 14th Dave went to the Lake District for the weekend with his friend Paul Estensen {Let me just pause there for a Claim to Fame moment. Paul Estensen had an older sister, Elisabeth Estensen, who had recently landed the part of Carol Boswell in the popular BBC sitcom The Liver Birds. She’s probably better known these days as Diane Sugden in Emmerdale. It’s quite a tenuous link to fame on my behalf, as I don’t actual know Elizabeth and Paul probably only knows me as Dave’s scroaty little brother}.  We suspected that Dave was up to something when he sold his golf clubs, as there was a time not in the too distant past when he could be found on the golf course from dawn till dusk.  Our fears were confirmed when on Aug 22nd Dave argued with mum and dad, because he wanted to give up work and live rough in the countryside with his friend Steve Marshall.  Get real Dave, this is Middlesbrough not California, it’s not all Flower Power and Free Love in the Yorkshire Dales.  It was therefore a big surprise when he announced that he was re-joining the Army.  Remember he’d joined the Army in 1974, but quit after 3 months.  However after passing a medical he signed up for 9 years.  Why 9 years? Surely a week at a time would be more sensible with his track record.  
Fiona had been working in a shoe shop for a while, but she wasn’t the sort of person not to make the most of her abilities. On June 15th she took her Junior Secretary exams and breezed through.  She was super fast at typing, something like 1000 words a minute. Basically she could type faster than you could think.  She’d definitely give Mrs. Beeton, Aunt Bessie, or whatever her name is, a run for her money.  Mavis Beacon, that’s the one. She’s not actually a real person, Mavis Beacon was a software program to teach touch typing and it wasn’t actually released until 1987.  Aunt Bessie isn’t a real person either; she’s the name and face of a company that make frozen roast potatoes. Well they don’t actually make them frozen; they roast the potatoes and then freeze them, either way she can’t type to save her life.  Mrs. Beeton was a real person but she lived in the 1800’s and she was famous for writing a book, Mrs. Beeton's Book of Household Management, an essential guide to running a Victorian household.  Anyway this typing skill was going to be her ticket to fame and fortune.  On July 9th after a second interview Fiona was offered a job as a secretary with J.D. White & Co. Crane hire. They even gave her staff discount if she wanted to hire a crane for the weekend, as you do! So in a strange way she’s actually worse off than when she worked in the shoe shop, 50% discount on shoes was priceless, whereas there’s only so many cranes that a 17-year old girl would want to hire.   

For our summer holiday this year there was no need to go abroad, what with our heat wave and drought. In fact we did it on the cheap as we arranged to stay in Auntie Vi and Uncle Doug’s mobile home near Exeter.  First we drove to Bristol and stayed in Vi & Doug’s house in Westbury-upon-Trym.  Dad took me to Bristol Zoo, then I went with him and Doug to play Pitch & Putt at Ashton Court, I won by 6 shots, I told you I was good.  We also visited Grandad and Auntie Barbara in Fishponds.  After leaving Bristol we drove to Exminster to start a week’s holiday at the mobile home.  On the first day we all (me, mum and dad) went to Plymouth and took a boat trip up the Tamar.  We saw HMS Ark Royal, Eagle, Fearless and others.  While on holiday we found a Pitch & Putt course and I badgered dad into playing.  It was quite a tough course, but one hole in particular will always stay in the memory.  You tee’d off at the bottom of a steep hill and the Green was cut into the hill.  This course was on grass, but with the heat wave, you’d never of known.  It was like a sheet of light brown glass.  Therefore if you hit the ball too hard it would roll back down the hill and come to rest about 50 yards behind where you started.  If you hit the ball too short it would do the same and chances are if the ball landed on the green it would probably still roll off.  The only way to play the hole was to get a hole in one, easy!  One day we went to Torquay. Torquay was the Jewel of the South coast with a beautiful beach and lots going on.  If fact in the evening we went to the Pavilion Theatre to see the Eric Sykes Show  (whoopee!!), starring Eric, Hattie Jacques and Derek Guyler.   
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On February 4th my maternal Grandmother (the mother of one's mother) died.  Her name was Lucy but everyone knew her as Mam. Mam was a name used colloquially (sometimes) in several English-speaking areas such as England, Wales, Ireland, South Africa, Australia and New Zealand.  Mam was English but had married a Welshman, Dai Jones (you can’t get more Welsh than that) and they lived in Llanelli, South Wales, so she was known as Mam Jones.  My maternal Grandfather (the father of one’s mother), Dai, had died a long time before I was born (circa 1945), but not before he fathered half a Welsh rugby team (if they allowed girls).  There was my mum Florence (known as Mavis) and her twin brother Leonard (Len), Frank, Phil, Ivor, Jack, Dorothy (Dolly) and Vi.  I might have forgotten someone, for which I apologise.  Despite having all these Aunties and Uncles, I didn’t actually know many of them.  Phil, Ivor, Jack and Dolly, all lived in Australia.  Vi used to live in Australia and Len lived in Rhodesia. Only Frank had remained in South Wales.  Mam had actual lived in Wales for a long time, but had moved to Sydney, Australia in 1969 and that was to be her final resting place.

While were on the subject of death, there was another loss in 1976 and this one left me heartbroken.  Our beloved dog Jenny was put to sleep by the vet on August 4th.  Jenny had been a birthday present for Charlie in 1968, but she was very much a family dog.  She was a Springer Spaniel and was always a very active dog, but this year she’d developed health problems and wasn’t the same dog at all.  I’ve never really thought that animals could communicate with each other, but on July 14th my opinion was to change.  We took Jenny for a walk, as we’d done hundreds of times, but this time our Cat, Becky, followed us all the way.  She must’ve known that something was wrong with Jenny.  After that walk Jenny sort of gave up, she had arthritis, kidney problems and internal bleeding. It was tough for a 12 year old to accept that Jenny was going to the vet, but would never come home. 
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       Jenny                                                                                         

Remember I was telling you that our neighbours, The Wighams had had a baby girl Kate, at the beginning of July. Well with Ann being a teacher and not wanting the pupils of Green Lane School to suffer in their education, she went back to teaching on 1st September.  So guess who was left holding the baby? No, not me! Mum looked after Kate.  They could obviously see what a great job mum had done bringing me up and knew that Kate would be in safe hands.  I’m not sure if they paid mum, or just took her to the theatre a ridiculous amount of times in lieu of payment.  On Sep 23rd mum and dad went with Ann & Geoff to the Little Theatre, round the corner, to see ‘H.M.S. Pinafore’.  Then a week later mum went with Ann to the Forum Theatre, Billingham, to see Caroll Baker in ‘Lucy Crown’.  Then on the 20th Oct it was back to the Little Theatre to see ‘Move over Mrs. Markham’. Then on the 22nd Oct (yes, two days later) mum and Ann were back at the Forum to see John Mills and Jill Bennet in ‘Separate Tables’.  It was the Forum again on Nov 13th to see Moira Lister in ‘Perfect Pitch’.  

1976 Facts & Figures

Jan 21st - The age of Supersonic air travel began when two Concorde’s took off simultaneously
from London and Paris.

Mar 16th – Harold Wilson made the surprising announcement that he was resigning as Prime

Minister.

Mar 20th – American newspaper heiress, Patty Hearst, is found guilty of armed robbery of a San 
Francisco bank.

April 1st - Apple Computer Company is formed by Steve Jobs and Steve Wozniak. 

April 3rd - The Eurovision Song Contest 1976 was won by ‘Brotherhood of Man’, representing the 
UK.
April 5th – James Callaghan became Prime Minister, after defeating Michael Foot by 176 to 137 
in the final vote.

June 2nd – Jockey, Lester Piggott won the Derby at Epsom for a record Seventh time, riding 
French horse Empery.

July 3rd - Bjorn Borg became the youngest winner of Wimbledon for 45 years, beating Ilie 
Nastase of Romania. 

July 4th – Israeli commandos flew 2500 miles to Uganda and rescued over 100 hostages held by 
pro-Palestinian terrorists at Entebbe airport.

July 4th - America celebrated its 200th birthday – “1776 – 1976” 

July 31st – The Queen and Prince Phillip opened the Olympic Games in Montreal. David Wilkie won 
gold in 200m breaststroke.

Summer 1976 – Britain had the hottest, driest, sunniest summer of the 20th Century.

Oct 4th - The new Intercity 125 High Speed Train was introduced in the United Kingdom.
Oct 24th – Britain’s James Hunt finished 3rd in the Japanese Grand Prix to win the F1 World 
Championship by 1 point.

Nov 2nd – Jimmy Carter was elected President of the United States, beating incumbent 
Republican President Gerald Ford.
New TV shows of 1976 - The Fall and Rise of Reginald Perrin, Multi-Coloured Swap Shop, the Bionic Woman, the Muppet Show.

Rocky was a 1976 film written by and starring Sylvester Stallone and directed by John G. Avildsen. It tells the rags-to-riches American Dream story of Rocky Balboa, an uneducated but good-hearted debt collector for a loan shark in Philadelphia. Balboa is also a club fighter who gets a shot at the world heavyweight championship when the scheduled contender breaks his hand.

Multi-Coloured Swap Shop, more commonly known simply as Swap Shop, was a UK children's television programme. It was broadcast on Saturday mornings on BBC1 for 146 episodes in six series between 1976 and 1982. It was ground-breaking in many ways: by being live, sometimes up to three hours in length, and using the phone-in format extensively for the first time on TV. The anchor was Noel Edmonds and his associates from the beginning were Keith Chegwin, John Craven and later, in 1978, Maggie Philbin.  Also featured was Posh Paws, a stuffed toy dinosaur. Noel Edmonds once explained that his name was actually spelled "Pohs Paws" (sic), because that is "Swap Shop" backwards. Another character was Eric, the often-referred to but never seen lighting technician whose job was to lower a plastic globe containing postcards sent in by viewers as answers to competitions. The content of the programme included music, visits from celebrities, competitions, and cartoons. The cornerstone, however, was the Swaporama element, hosted by Chegwin, who was very rarely in the studio. An outside broadcast unit would travel to different locations throughout the country where children could swap their belongings with others. This proved to be one of the most popular aspects of the show, often achieving gatherings of more than 2,000 children. 

Deaths

Jan 12th – British Author Dame Agatha Christie, died aged 85.

Feb 24th – L.S.Lowry northern artist, died aged 88.

Mar 24th - Field Marshall Bernard Law Montgomery “Monty”, 1st Viscount Montgomery of 
Alamein, died aged 88.

April 5th – Howard Hughes, American billionaire, aviation pioneer, film director, and eccentric, 
died aged 70.

April 26th – South African-born British actor and comedian, Sid James, died aged 62.

June 6th – US oil tycoon John Paul Getty, died aged 83.

Sep 9th - Mao Zedong (aka Mao Tse-tung), Chinese Statesman, chairman of Communist Party 
1949 – 76, died aged 82.
4th Dec – British Composer, Benjamin Britten, died aged 73.
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                    Othello   

            Slime

           Citizen Smith
 Star Wars
My cousin Frances, from Australia, had been staying with us over New Year.  On New Years Day mum and dad took her to Redcar.  I would’ve gone but Boro were playing at home to Stoke City.  Not one of my best decisions, as it was the most tedious 0 – 0 draw of all time and it poured with rain the whole game.  I probably only went to see Peter Shilton playing in goal for Stoke.  We did take Frances out to the Cleveland Hills the following day, in the sunshine.  Dad also did a watercolour portrait of Frances.  When she left on the 4th January, she took the train to London with my brother Dave, who had to return to Army duties. 

1977 was dominated by one thing, The Queen’s Silver Jubilee celebration.   On February 14th a silver plated tray for the Queen’s Silver Jubilee, arrived in the post, it was a special offer from Woman’s Realm (classy!).  On March 23rd (mum’s birthday) dad bought 8 new crowns (25p pieces) minted especially for the Jubilee.  We also bought Jubilee mugs, thimbles, Union Jack flags, Union Jack underpants (not really, but I wouldn’t have put it past dad).  Even when dad sent a letter to Grandad and Auntie Barbara, he had to design a Jubilee envelope and he got really excited when the 1st Day cover came out.

Dad even entered a Jubilee Art Competition and he took it very seriously.  He had to do a painting of something that represented the local area. After a trip to an Art Exhibition in Castleton dad came up with the idea of painting a ‘Cleveland Bay’ (Horse). He even got Simon’s dad (Alan Berry) involved by getting him some Gazette photos of Cleveland Bay horses.  Mum and dad went to see Miss Ruth Kitching’s Cleveland Bay’s at her farm in Fryup.  Unfortunately the VW got stuck in the field, which was muddy after 3in. of snow the previous night.  Dad waited a few weeks and chose a sunny day to return to the farm to paint the horses.  The following day dad started painting his picture of a Cleveland Bay (Mulgrave Supreme).  Now this is dedication, he climbed local landmark, Eston Nab, to do a watercolour sketch of the view for the background for his picture.  My suggestion was rejected, I don’t know why? I had Roseberry Topping and ICI works on one side and the Transporter Bridge and Ayresome Park on the other, with the horse in the middle being ridden by the Queen wearing a Boro shirt and her crown.  The final version had a massive horse on the top of Eston Nab with a picturesque background, however I think ICI was subtly incorporated.  Dad mounted and framed his picture on May 31st and delivered it to the Art gallery on June 8th.

Being Jubilee year they even let posh British Tennis player, Virginia Wade, win Wimbledon.  The Queen was even at the game, no pressure!  In the Final ‘Ginny’ played a butch Dutch woman called Betty Stove, and beat her in three sets.  The Men’s Final was a classic between reigning Champion Bjorn Borg and Jimmy Connors.  It went all the way to five sets, with Borg winning through in the end.   
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     Special Jubilee coins
The Red Arrows     
Royal Procession
Virginia Wade

All the celebration came to a head on June 7th (to coincide with the Queen’s official Birthday) and everyone had the day off school or work to have a street party.  Our street party wasn’t actually in the street; it was more of a field party.  All residents of Thackeray Grove, The Prospect and Walton Ave, made their way through the Arty to Mill Hill Field.  Tables were laid out full of food and other goodies.  There was Union Jack bunting and flags.  People made there own hats and as you can see from the picture below, I looked like I could’ve been Royalty itself!  I think I’m wearing that ‘Fred Perry’ jumper in every picture taken of me from 1974 – 1979.  After the Street (Field) Party had finished we made our way to No. 12 Walton Ave. for a BBQ and a get to know your neighbour session.  The Queen herself had a busy day, which started the night before lighting bonfires and the climax of the Silver Jubilee celebrations came when the Queen and Prince Phillip rode in a carriage procession to St. Paul’s Cathedral.  This was followed by a banquet at the Guildhall, then a ‘walkabout’ with the Lord Mayor of London.  Throughout the year the Queen tried to visit as many places as possible and on July 14th she came to Middlesbrough and not only that she drove along Green Lane and past the end of our road, literally 50 yards from our house.  As she went past she said to Phillip “look out for little Kate Wigham, you can’t miss her, she’s waving a Flag”.
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                      Jubilee Hat

On April 18th, after two weeks Easter holiday, it was back to school, but not for Geoff Wigham (who was a Headmaster by the way).  Geoff was sick with a disease he got in Africa a few years previously.   “Not the old disease I got in Africa a few years ago, excuse”. I’d have to remember that one, except I’d never been to Africa.  What about the dodgy frog’s legs I had in France a couple of years before? That’s got to be worth a few days off.  On May 3rd Ann Wigham thought that Kate had measles. Probably caught in Africa a few years ago, oh no, she was only 10 months old.  Mum continued to look after Kate full-time.  On May 10th she cut her first tooth, and then on May 12th she started crawling.  On Sep 9th dad has noted that “Kate walked today”.  Not sure if it was the first time or nothing else happened that day worth writing about.  Kate used to help mum with the cooking, as you can see from the picture below.
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A young Fanny Craddock

On January 11th we had snow and Charlie’s Driving Test had to be cancelled. He did get to take his test on Jan 26th but unfortunately he failed.  So the Motor Car had replaced the Motor Bike as Charlie’s chosen ‘vehicle of disaster’.  However rather than give up, Charlie took extra lessons in dad’s Cortina but during a lesson on April 12th, he narrowly missed a lamppost in Marton Road.  At least Fiona failed her first driving test on April 29th, which made Charlie feel better.  Charlie took his 2nd test on May 5th in the Cortina, but still no luck as again he had the dreaded FAILED stamped on his test document.  August 26th was Dave’s 21st Birthday and Charlie celebrated by failing his Driving Test for the 3rd time. On Sept 2nd Fiona beat him to it and passed her test. On Oct 6th David was driving the Cortina Estate when it left the road and rolled over down a bank.  He, Charlie and Steve Marshall who were in the car, were unhurt.  Dad went to collect them at the scene, 1½ mile S.W. of Hutton Rudby.  Charlie decided he’d have one more attempt at passing his test.  On Oct 21st his test was going badly as usual, when something happened that would ultimately decide Charlie’s driving future. He was trying to reverse round a corner, when someone smashed into him and drove off.  Surely that was it, another Failed! However this was to be Charlie’s lucky day.  The Driving Instructor said “Right I got his number; quick let me drive back to the Test Centre. You’ve PASSED!”  
Kids in the 70’s would always be playing board games.  They played an important part in our learning curve and preparation for adulthood.  With technology increasing all the time, future generations were going to be brought up playing mindless computer games.  I’ve nicknamed our generation the ‘Buckaroo Boys’, after the game ‘Buckaroo’, where you had to show a bit of skill, a bit of nous, a bit of  guile, a bit of common sense.  Who can remember the 12 items which players must place on the mule's back? (See end of Chapter for the answer).  

There was the big two, ‘Monopoly’ and ‘Cludeo’, and for the slightly more intellectual, there was ‘Scrabble’, but there were many more that we would play. 

My personal favourite was a football game called ‘Wembley'. It was a fantastic football board game, recreating the excitement and unpredictability of the FA Cup. The game recreated the matches of the later rounds, culminating in the FA Cup Final.  Players took charge of a team (or teams) from one of the old First, Second or Third divisions and tried to not only win the cup, but to earn the largest revenue from their gate receipts on the way to the final. With big decisions to make, like whether to purchase a 'star' striker for the important next round match, this game was never dull. 

‘Haunted House’ was a game played with a 3D board. When set up, it consisted of 4 rooms, a staircase, and a central chimney. The game pieces moved round the board; you drew cards which would turn you into a mouse (which meant you couldn't move) or turn you back into a child, or let you drop the Whammy Ball down the chimney - this was a steel ball that could come out in any of the 4 rooms, and triggered a moving piece that knocked down any game pieces in the vicinity, forcing them to go back to a safe spot on the board.  The ultimate goal was to make it up the staircase to the Charmed Circle where you were safe - the first person to get there won, but you weren't safe on the way up the stairs... "Be very careful on the stair, the whammy ball could get you there". The witches in the game were Wanda the Wicked (who turned you into a mouse), Glenda the Good (who turned mice back to humans) & Ghoulish Gertie (who dropped the Whammy Ball down the chimney).

‘Buccaneer’. The object of the game was to sail the ocean, collect a pre-determined amount of treasure, and return to port with your crew and treasure intact. However, in addition to storms, a lull in the winds, and outbreaks of Yellow Fever among your crew, you must steer clear of your fellow player's ships. Given half a chance they will attack your ship and steal your treasure!
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          Wembley

        Haunted House


  Buccaneer

On September 15th dad discovered that the GPO (old school BT) had disconnected our phone because we hadn’t paid the bill.  Why didn’t they just ring us up? Oh they couldn’t, our phone had been disconnected.  Dad paid the bill and we were re-connected a week later. 

Our phone wasn’t the only thing being disconnected. On Halloween we had a power cut in the evening. Nothing to do with not paying the bill this time, it was the start of Industrial action and General Strikes.  Even so, whoever was responsible for flicking the switch must’ve thought it would be a good laugh to plunge everyone into darkness on the scariest night of the year. 

The next day I went to the Hardware Store with dad.  He’d broken his Garden Fork digging up his home grown potatoes and we also needed Candles for the power cuts.  

In the Hardware Store: 

The owner Mr Finkhouse, his daughter Annie Finkhouse and assistant Alma Chizzet were working in the shop that day.

Mr. Finkhouse: Hello Sir, what can I get for you?

Dad asked for what sounded like “Four Candles”. So Annie went away and came back with four long white candles, but dad merely repeated his request and the shopkeeper was confused. Dad rephrased his request to reveal he in fact wanted “Fork Handles”,” handles for forks."

Annie Finkhouse: Anything Else Sir?

Dad: Yes please, I’d like “Four Candles” 

Annie points to the “Fork Handles” and says “you already have them sir”. Dad says “No, I need those ‘Four Candles’ you got out earlier, for the power cuts”.  So off Annie went and retrieved them, again! 
Annie Finkhouse: Anything Else Sir?

Dad then asks for plugs. To try and avoid a similar mistake Annie asks what kind and is told "a rubber one, bathroom". Believing that he is asking for bath plugs she gets out a box of them and asks for the size. Dad’s answer is "thirteen amps" revealing he in fact wanted insulated electric plugs.

The power cuts continued for a while, so we made good use of the “Four Candles”, having Candlelit meals.  We had to return to the Hardware store for more candles. I won’t even go there!
Everyone was going on strike and on November 14th it was the National Fireman’s strike.  The country’s safety was in the hands of the Army and the ‘Green Goddess’.  The Green Goddess was the name given to the Bedford RLHZ Self Propelled Pump, a fire engine used originally by the AFS (Auxiliary Fire Service) and latterly by the British Armed Forces. These green-painted vehicles were built between 1953 and 1956 for the Auxiliary Fire Service. The design was based on a Bedford RL series army truck.  If you were unfortunate enough to require the service of a Green Goddess, you had to specify you required a Fire Engine, otherwise you might’ve ended up with a woman called Diana Moran (aka The Green Goddess) dressed in a green leotard, to extinguish your fire. 
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   Green Goddess
                    Green Goddess
         Green Goddess

Green Goddess


I’d never done too badly for holidays, but now I got an extra holiday, as I went away with Simon Berry and his family and he came on holiday with me, mum and dad.  On the first day of the school summer holiday I went to Felixstowe with the Berry’s.  Not somewhere that jumps off the map as a holiday destination, but it was alright.  The highlight of the holiday was going Go-karting.  I’d never done it before, but it was the best fun ever.  It was quite a small track with huge tyres all round the outside.  It was a bit tight for overtaking and I was to have my comeuppance as a result of this. As my confidence grew, I was flying round the track and came round the bend, moved alongside Mr. Berry and went flat out to try and pass him.  There was just one slight problem; the straight had a huge tyre blocking the left hand side.  So despite having the pace, for want of a better word, I was buggered.  Being 13-years old and not having much (any) driving experience, the thought of using the brake never entered my mind, instead I ploughed head first into the tyre and my chance of glory had gone. Not to mention it bloody hurt! 
One evening we went to a show at the Spa Pavilion.  On the bill was an 18-year old, inexperienced impressionist with jokes from the Beano, called Lenny Henry. He was performing (second spot comic) with John Hanson – of Desert song fame and Peter Butterworth from the Carry on films. John Hanson did a crowd pleasing show with all the old songs... Peter Butterworth was sort of funny, but didn't really have an act. He was first half closer. Lenny Henry was extremely fit and skinny back then and he was trying to dance and sing a Stevie Wonder medley, but during 'you are the sunshine of my life', he split his pants.  We all thought it was part of the comedy act and were falling about laughing, but as it turns out, that wasn’t supposed to happen.  

The following weekend it was our turn to take Simon on holiday with us.  No surprise we went to Scotland but at least we went to a different part, no Forth Bridge, Tay Bridge or Golden Gate Bridge! On the first day we travelled via Penrith and Dumfries and camped at Southerness on the Solway Coast, Simon and I swam in the sea.  The next day we visited Castle Douglas and Kirkudbright. Later in the day we went to another Castle, Threave Castle on an island in the River Dee. We left our camp at Southerness and drove via Gatehouse of Fleet and Newton Stewart to Caldons, a camp in the Glen Trool forest. When we were in the camp, I had one of those moments, you know when you see someone you recognise, but pretend you haven’t because you can’t be bothered to make small talk.  If you think back to our holiday in La Turballe, 1975, I’d made friends with a boy called Brian Blackett, well him and his family are only staying in the same Camp site as us again. What are the odds on that happening? I’m busy pretending I haven’t seen him when dad pipes up “Look who it is Al, its Brian Blackett from the camp site in France.  Go and say hello, you’ll be able to play together”.  Cheers dad but I don’t need a friend, I’ve brought my own one with me. We greeted each other in a way only 13-year old boys could.

Me - “alright”, Brian - “alright”, Simon – “alright”, Brian – “alright”.

The next day dad suggested a walk round Loch Trool.  Why not, can’t be that far?  4½ miles later we were back at camp, completely knackered.  I must say though it was spectacular scenery.  On the Thursday we all went on a day trip to Ayr on the West coast.  Dad swam in the sea, while Simon and I went to Butlins.  It was a bit of a run down Butlins, for instance we played Pitch & Putt and the holes were about 2ft wide and not very round.  We spent most of our time at the Fun Fair, going on the Dodgems, Waltzer and the Big Wheel, with its panoramic views of Ayr, dump!  We returned to camp via Straiton and the mountain road through Galloway Forest Park.

The sightseeing continued unabated.  We visited a Deer museum at Clatteringshaws Loch, and then in the afternoon we swam in the waters of Minnoch at Stroan Bridge. In the evening we drove up to the ‘Bruce Stone’. This granite boulder on Moss Rapploch marks the spot where Bruce defeated the English in 1307. It is said that King Robert the Bruce rested against this stone after using guerrilla tactics to defeat an English army here in 1307.  We’re not very good at fighting us English, are we? I mean old ‘Brucie Boy’ has spanked our ass here and when we went to Bayeux, it was all about ‘Willy the Conk” giving us a good pasting at Hastings.  Can’t we visit somewhere where we’ve actually won, Wembley here we come! Later dad walked up part of the Merrick trail and saw an Eagle.
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Bruce’s Stone

We visited Stranraer and went to the Logan Botanical Gardens and Mull of Galloway.  Back in Stranraer we went to the Roberts Brothers Circus.  Why is it that no matter how hard they try, Clowns just aren’t funny? You pretend to laugh, but really it’s painful to watch grown men humiliating themselves in public.  Maybe they should combine the acts, have the clowns thrown in the Tiger’s cage, now that would be funny!  On the last day of our holiday it was pouring with rain, so we decided to go home.  We said goodbye to the Blackett family and checked where they planned going on holiday for the next 5 years, so we could avoid them.  The ignition red warning light came on for most of the 179 mile journey back to Middlesbrough, but we made it, just.  We took Simon home first then arrived home to a Sunday dinner cooked by Charlie and Fiona.  They must’ve had something to hide, “quick dad, check the Cortina”.  
If there was something to collect or even not collect, we were there.  For instance one of our hobbies was to walk round the streets collecting car registration plates.  Let me explain: Back then all car registrations had 3 letters followed by a number between 1 – 999 then another letter e.g. our VW was EDC 788K.  What you had to do was, starting with 1, spot registration plates in sequence.  Each spot had to be witnessed and was recorded in your book. Sometimes you’d spot a number that was next but one in your sequence and spend hours trying to find the missing number, just so you could return to the other car. We would’ve got arrested as suspected car thieves if we weren’t such nerdy looking anoraks. 

So that all these hours spent roaming the streets weren’t totally wasted we would also collect discarded cigarette packets. They must’ve been in good condition and a previously uncollected brand.  This was more difficult than it sounds as 75% of the packets found were either Embassy No. 1 Red or Blue.  Never had such excitement been had in finding an empty packet of Capstan Full Strength.  One of the pitfalls of ‘Fag Packet collecting’ was dog SHIT.  We had no ‘poop scoops’ or ‘shit bins’ back then.  You took your dog for a walk, it shit on the pavement and some kid would invariably tread in it. That was the way of the world. If anyone could be bothered to work it out, I bet that kids of my age must’ve spend approximately 1 day of their life looking for some long grass to wipe dog mess off the bottom of your Puma or Gola trainers, only for some to get stuck in the grooves on the sole.  While I’m on the subject of dog shit, what ever happened to White Dog Shit? This was a much more user friendly shit, easy to spot, firmer in texture (sort of chalky) and easy to remove from your shoes. I have a theory about 70’s dogs. They were fed a natural diet of raw meat and bone (bone turns the shit white). Now, dogs are more commonly fed from cans and/or bags of prepared food which produce nasty-smelling brown shit. If there are any dog owners out there that don't like picking up stinky shite, then do yourself and your dog a favour, throw it a frikken bone once and a while. I think I’ll start a campaign “Bring Back White Dog Shit, the Retro Shit”.

I liked my comics and magazines as much as the next kid, but for some reason I wasn’t big into stuff like Marvel or other Superhero comics.  I would now like to request a return to my teenage years to put that right.  My personal favourite was Shoot, which fitted nicely with my football obsession.  My wall was covered with posters of footballers taken from the Shoot magazine.  The weekly magazine was also known for its annual free gift of "Shoot League Ladders". This consisted of a thin card sheet on which were printed blank league tables for each division of The Football League, with a slit in the card alongside each position on the tables. Also given away were T-shaped "tabs" for each club in the league (printed in the appropriate team colours) which could be fitted into the slits to indicate where each team currently stood in the league table. As the season progressed and teams moved up and down the table, their tabs could be moved to new slits accordingly.  The magazine also featured Paul Trevillion's You Are the Ref, a comic strip featuring a series of awkward football refereeing challenges. 

Another popular football hero was Roy of the Rovers a British comic strip about the life and exploits of a fictional footballer named Roy Race. The weekly strip ran from 1954 to 1993 and followed Race's playing career until its conclusion with his loss of a foot in a helicopter crash. So his career spanned nearly 40 years and he still looked the same, Sir Stanley Matthews eat your heart out! By 1977, Roy of the Rovers had been deemed so popular that it merited its own magazine, after featuring in various publications over the years.

It wasn’t all football and one magazine I had reserved was Look-in. I even remember buying the issue shown below, featuring Lindsay Wagner as the Bionic Woman. Look-in had interviews, crosswords and competitions, and it had pictures and pin-ups of TV stars and pop idols of the time. Its main feature however was the many comic strips of the favourite children's television programmes. These included Battle Star Galactica, Follyfoot, The Tomorrow People, The Six Million Dollar Man, Charlie's Angels, Worzel Gummidge, Knight Rider, The A-Team and Robin of Sherwood.  
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Another thing that was popular with kids back then, that you don’t see so much of now, was massive scabs on your knees or elbows.  That’s because kids are now mollycoddled and every effort is made to keep them safe, whereas back then we were far more reckless charging around on our bikes or playing football in the street.  Our favourite place to play football was outside Simon Berry’s house in Westwood Avenue.  It was perfect. We had a tree and a lamppost that made a perfect size goal and the lamppost would also enable us to play in the dark.  Even better, our friends Sean and Simon Hughes lived in the house behind the goal {their next door neighbours, round the corner, were the family of world famous singer Chris Rea}, which avoided the “Can we have our ball back” scenario.  Mind you there was the occasional broken kitchen window, which would have to be paid for out of our pocket money. We would play all year round and infact the best fun was in the snow. We’d wear Wellies and a big Parka or Snorkel coat.  It was hilarious falling all over the place trying to kick the ball or make a save.  
Going back to the subject of childhood accidents and injuries, many people wonder how we survived our childhood.
1.  
When we were growing up we never wore seatbelts in the car, cars didn’t have airbags……
2. 
Riding on the back of a pick up truck was an adventure that we still remember!
3. 
Our cots were painted with bright colours (paint which was full of lead). 
4.  
We didn’t have childproof medicine bottles, nor did our parents childproof our house.
5.  
When we were out riding our bikes on the busy roads, we never wore a helmet.
6. 
We would drink water from a hose in the back garden (not bottled water).
7.  
We didn’t have mobile phones, so our parents were never able to reach us (awesome).

8. 
We would get scrapes, bruises, break bones, but we would never stop us playing.

9. 
We would eat cake, bread and butter, drink sugary drinks, but we weren’t overweight. 
10.
Four of us would share a drink, we would all drink from the same bottle and that wasn’t gross nor would anyone get sick.
On November 11th we got new neighbours at No. 8 Thackeray Grove.  The Stout’s had lived there for quite a while and I was good friends with their son Alistair, but they had decided to move to Stokesley, a nearby Market Town in North Yorkshire.  The new family were Chinese, called Mar. They had a son, Robin, similar age to me, so that could be a new friend.  I think the person who originally built the houses in Thackeray Grove, must’ve lived at No. 8, because the garden was double the size of everyone else’s.  Basically it was L-shaped and one part of the L ran along the back fences of about four houses, very sneaky!   What we should’ve done is the night before the Mar’s moved in, is flip our back fence round to give us an L-shape garden covering five gardens and hope the Mar’s didn’t realise.

I lied earlier when I said that 1977 was dominated by one thing, the Silver Jubilee. The biggest thing to happen that year, or any year come to that, was Star Wars. 
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Even we didn’t realise it at the time, but we had a new set of Superheroes, Luke Skywalker, C3PO, R2-D2, Obi-Wan Kenobi, Chewbacca, Hans Solo, Princess Leia  and the biggest Super villain of them all Darth Vader.  Christmas that year it was a must to have a Light Saber or a Darth Vader mask, a model C-3PO or R2-D2, a Luke Skywalker doll.  In a nutshell Star Wars was an Inter-galactic fight between good and evil.  The Jedi Knights against the ‘Dark Side’ led by Darth Vader.  The Jedi’s motto was “May the Force be with you”, which I think I’ll adopt for my birthday “May the 4th be with you”.  

1977 Facts & Figures

Jan 17th – Murderer Gary Gilmore became the first convict to be executed in the USA for ten
 years.

Jan 20th - Jimmy Carter was inaugurated as the 39th President of the United States of America.

Feb 2nd - The Pompidou Centre for the Arts, a glass-walled laboratory covered in coloured 

 tubing, opened in Paris.

Mar 27th – Two Jumbo jets collided on the ground in the Canary Islands, killing 574, the worse 
tragedy in aviation history. 

April 2nd – Red Rum became the first horse to win the Grand National three times, having also 
won in 1973 and 1974.

April 30th – An oil slick of more than 1000 sq. miles after disaster struck the Bravo rig in 
Norway’s Ekofisk Field.

May 3rd - The HMS Invincible was launched at Barrow-in-Furness by Queen Elizabeth II.
May 13th – A secret deal sees Australian publisher, Kerry Packer, split the world of Cricket by 
signing 35 of the world’s best players. 

June 7th – The whole country celebrated the Queen’s Silver Jubilee, to mark her 25 years on the 
throne.

June 15th – Spain had its first democratic election for 41 years.

July 5th – Zulifikar Ali Bhutto, Prime Minister of Pakistan, was overthrown and arrested by 
General Zia ul-Haq.

Aug 12th - The NASA Space Shuttle, Enterprise, makes its first test free-flight from the back
 of a Boeing 747 Shuttle Carrier Aircraft.
Sept 26th – Freddie Laker launched the first cut-price Skytrain service to New York, with 
passengers paying only £59.

Nov 21st – President Anwar Sadat addressed Israel’s parliament (Knesset) in a momentous visit
 by the Egyptian Statesman.

Hits of 1977- Hotel California (Eagles), Mull of Kintyre (Wings), Don't Give Up On Us (David Soul), Don't Cry for Me Argentina (Julie Covington), When I Need You (Leo Sayer), Chanson D'Amour (The Manhattan Transfer), Knowing Me, Knowing You (ABBA).

New TV shows in 1977 - The Krypton Factor, Soap, CHiPS, the Love Boat, the Professionals. .

Deaths

Jan 14th – Anthony Eden, former Prime Minister of the United Kingdom (1955-57), died aged 79.

May 10th - Joan Crawford (born Lucille Fay LeSueur), American actress, died aged 72.

Aug 16th - Elvis Aaron Presley, ‘Elvis’ died aged 42. He was also known as the ‘King of Rock and 
Roll’ or just ‘The King’.  However to kids of my age we didn’t really know him.  We just 
knew him as a bloated sweaty bloke in his forties who went round in a white jump suit. 
The only king he was to us was ‘Burger King’. However to older people he was like a god, 
an icon, an almost mythical being.  

Aug 19th – “Groucho” Marx, American actor and comedian, died aged 86.

Sept 12th - Steve Biko, South African anti-apartheid activist, died in Police custody, aged 30.

Sept 16th - Marc Bolan, English musician with Glam Rock group T-Rex, died in a car crash, aged 29.

Sept 16th – Maria Callas, Greek soprano, died aged 53.

Oct 14th - Harry Lillis "Bing" Crosby, American singer and actor, died on the golf course, aged 74.   

Dec 25th – Charlie Chaplin, silent movie comedian, died aged 88.

Buckaroo pieces:-

bedroll,  canteen,  crate,  frying pan,  cowboy hat,  guitar,  holster, lantern, rope, saddle, shovel, stick of dynamite.
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     Grange Hill                Wonder Woman           Atari 2600                  Boomtown Rats            Star Wars Toys

In early February we had a really heavy snowfall and Dave went ‘Visqueening’ (sliding down a snow slope on a large polythene sheet) at Carlton Bank, with his friend Steve Marshall.  A few days later after even more heavy snow I thought that I’d have a go at ‘Visqueening’ as it sounded great fun. Me and some friends went to Ormesby Bank with our ‘Visqueen’.  After climbing to the top of the hill I suddenly didn’t think it was such a great idea, but I couldn’t back out now.  Basically you’re looking at a shear drop that we’re going to fly down on a plastic bag, with only a big pile of snow to stop us! I don’t mind telling you I was shitting myself, but everything went to plan except for maybe flying and tumbling about 30ft when we hit the snow at the bottom.  We continued to climb the hill and slide down, having great fun, until we didn’t get it quite right.  Half way down I became detached from the sheet and went off course.  The result was I cracked my head on a fence post.  It could’ve been worse, but I think I decided that was the end of my ‘Visqueening’ career. 

That wasn’t my only nasty accident in 1978.  At school we had our own swimming pool and when the teacher left us on our own occasionally, we did what any respectful teenager would do, completely arsed about in the pool!  We would have ‘Bombing’ competitions in the Deep End and run round the pool pushing each other in.  It was as a result of one of these pushes that I had my accident. I was standing in the corner of the pool when someone sneaked up behind me and pushed me in.  However because I was in the corner, instead of going straight into the pool I caught the side with my chin on the way in.  It didn’t hurt too much, but it split my chin wide open!  Mr. Mitchell (our P.E. teacher) took me in his car to Middlesbrough General Hospital, where I had 6 stitches and 3 injections.  At least it gave me street cred, Scarred for life!

My brother Charlie continued to have car and job woes and he wasn’t the only one.  In fact one weekend when Dave came home on leave, the Cortina wouldn’t start, the Volkswagen wouldn’t start, and Charlie’s Mini had the radiator in the boot.  So Dave had to catch the train home from Darlington.  Not only that, someone broke into the Mini and stole the radiator and some tools. The following day Charlie was given notice that he was being made redundant at his job at Parkfield Foundries. Fiona handed in her notice to J.D. White Crane Hire on the same day, but that was because she’d landed a job at the Evening Gazette in the Editorial Department.   On Feb 28th Charlie was offered a new job with REM Power Tools Ltd. He was offered a salary of £3,100 plus commission and a brand spanking new Marina Estate.  This wasn’t an end of his car problems though.  As he had the Marina he didn’t need his Mini any longer.  He got it serviced at Dutton Forshaw and his friend Andy offered him £50, but he decided to try and get more money by advertising in the Gazette.  He had lots of callers and then it wouldn’t start! However he did sell it for £85 to a man who could get it started.   

Here are a few naff cars your dad might’ve had in the 70’s.  
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Morris Marina


Ford Cortina 2000E                  Vauxhall Chevette L
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            Austin Allegro

                          Alfa 6 


  Austin Maxi

On March 10th my brother Dave moved Army base from Tidworth to Chatham in Kent. He seemed to settle there ok and on May 22nd he phoned to say that he might bring a girl home on his next visit.  Her name was Valerie and he’d met her in ‘The Blue Grotto’ in Chatham town centre.   Gillian Nichols wasn’t going to be happy; she had a thing for Dave and had even knitted him a blue wool pullover.  The worrying thing was she was borderline ‘Bunny Boiler’ and finding out that Dave was seeing another girl might’ve pushed her over the edge.  He didn’t bring her though, so everything was ok.  He even took Gillian to Whitby in dad’s Cortina on the Bank Holiday Monday at the end of May.  On his next visit Dave hitch hiked to Darlington and one of his lifts was Gordon Jackson, the actor (Upstairs Downstairs, the Professionals).  Again he didn’t bring Valerie (Val). However the next time he phoned on June 30th, was to tell us that he’d got engaged to Val….!!!  “Oh dear, lock up your Bunnies”. We finally got to meet Valerie Knight on July 14th when he brought her home for the weekend.  He took Val to Whitby in dad’s Cortina, hang on didn’t he take Gillian to Whitby in dad’s Cortina a few weeks before? I hope he didn’t tell Val.  Auntie Vi was staying with us as well.  She lived in Hong Kong now, but had come home for a long holiday.  On the Sunday we went to York after lunch.  David and Val caught the train there.  Mum, Dad, Auntie Vi and I walked the Roman Wall and looked at shops in Petersgate and the Shambles. 

When you’re about 14-years old, it’s a funny age.  You’re approaching puberty and you start to see things in a different light.  For example you start to show an interest in girls!  Up until now they’d been a different species but when they started wearing bras we suddenly noticed them.  We were still a long way off ever getting near those bras and the complex fastening system they came with.  For a laugh one thing that certain boys would do, was to pin you down and twist the skin on your neck, so it looked like a ‘Love Bite’: Explain that one to you0r mum!  Fortunately when it happened to me I was playing Rugby that day and said I got caught by a stud!  That’s what you call thinking on your feet. We did lock one of our mates, Andrew Baldwin (no relation) in the girls changing room with Lorraine Fluen (pretty blonde girl who wore glasses).  I don’t think either of them appreciated it very much.  Thankfully, Football, Rugby and sticker collecting were still our main priorities, but that didn’t mean we didn’t drool over pictures of Charlie’s Angels (especially Farah Fawcett) in the TV Times.

We were never bad kids, no bullying or fighting or anything like that, but we were becoming more and more mischievous.  In the Autumn/Winter we would play ‘Knock down Ginger’ (knocking on someone’s door, then running away when they answer).  This one night we were playing up near the school.  There was a big house with a long drive and trees in the front.  We would sneak up to door, knock then run and hide behind a tree.  We knocked a couple of times, but no one came to the door, then just as we were about to try again, someone came running out of the house in a tracksuit and began chasing us. We all ran along the main road then turned first right and right again.  Hoping this would put them off the scent, but we’d turned into a Cul-de-Sac!  As they approached we trampled through a beautifully manicured front garden found a gap and ended up in the back garden.  We climbed the fence and landed in another garden, only problem was it was back where we started.  Someone else came out of the house, jumped in their Land Rover and started the engine.  This time we headed the other way towards the school.  Everyone climbed the fence, but I was never much good at climbing and caught the zip of my brand new Red jacket as I climbed over.  We all managed to escape and burst out laughing at what had been a great session of ‘knock down ginger’.  I told mum that she’d bought a duff jacket and she managed to take it back and get it replaced, result! 

‘Knock down Ginger’ was quite tame compared to another little game we used to play.  I must apologise to my parents at this point as what we used to do could be classed as an arrestable offence.  There was a Church and graveyard at the back entrance to Kings Manor School.  The entrance was on a sharp bend where St. Mary’s Walk met Church Lane.  On an icy night we would stand on opposite sides of the road and wait for a car to approach, and then as it got near the corner we would assume the rope pulling position and pretend to pull a rope across the road.  This would cause the car to brake sharply and the idea was to make it skid at the corner.  Very responsible! I don’t remember any accidents though, so no harm done.

I was still enjoying school, despite not excelling at anything (except maybe Rugby).  1978 saw the start of a BBC series all about kids our age and the trials and tribulations of school life.  So we’d go to school all day then go home to see our lives played out on the small screen in Grange Hill.  The star of Grange Hill was Peter “‘Tucker” Jenkins.  He was a typical Cockney lad; Gift of the gab, nose for trouble. He never took school too seriously and was scheming in a good-natured sort of way.  Tucker was the undisputed ringleader of his circle of friends (Alan Humphries, Benny Green and Tommy Watson). He was also the only person who could stand up to Mickey Doyle.  His bickering with Trisha Yates masked a secret admiration for her, but he would never admit it.  Tucker and his friends coined some legendary catchphrases which would be repeated in schools up and down the country; “Flippin’ eck”, “He’s a Nut job” and “Bonehead”.  
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    “Tucker” Jenkins            Class of 78’                  Tucker, Benny & Alan              Grange Hill 

. 

1978 saw the 4th Football World Cup Finals of my lifetime and I can safely say the highlight of my life (to that point).  My first World Cup was 1966 and despite England winning, I can’t claim that I remember it, as I was only 2 years old.  1970 I don’t actually remember that one either.  I watched 1974 and really enjoyed it, but it was held in West Germany and the Germans aren’t exactly the most extravagant bunch of people.  However 1978 was held in Argentina and it had all the Razzamatazz of a Razzamatazz party in Razzamatazz-ville. 
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Argentina lifting the WC


Argentina Team

   Holland Team

When Scotland qualified for the 1978 World Cup (and England didn't), probably the biggest mistake manager Ally McLeod made was to talk up the chances of Scotland not only doing well, but maybe even winning the World Cup. The song below, belted out at the time, epitomises that starry-eyed view.  Many of Scotland's Tartan Army of football fans even half-believed the optimism - until it all ended in tears, as Scotland didn't even get beyond the first round. The picture of McLeod, head buried in his hands, summed it all up! 

Scotland got off to a disastrous start losing there first match 3 – 1 to Peru. Then newcomers Iran gained a point against them in a 1 -1 draw. Scotland recovered to defeat the Netherlands 3-2 in their final group fixture in Cordoba. Archie Gemmill conjured up a magical goal after a slaloming run around three defenders yet the Scots still departed early, the Dutch squeezing through on goal difference. 
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            Ally McLeod

     1978 Scotland Shirt            Panini Sticker Album

As I mentioned previously, the world of football sticker collecting was changed forever when ‘Panini’ took over the English league sticker collection in 1978, with ‘Football 1978’.  They also did a sticker album for ‘Argentina 78’ (see above).
Ally's Tartan Army

We're on the march wi' Ally's Army, We're going tae the Argentine, and we'll really shake them up, When we win the World Cup, 'Cos Scotland is the greatest football team,We're representing Britain, and we're gaunny do or die, England cannae dae it, 'Cos they didnae qualify! We're on the march wi' Ally's Army, We're going tae the Argentine, and we'll really shake them up, When we win the World Cup, 'Cos Scotland is the greatest football team.    

After being losing finalists at the very first FIFA World Cup™, Argentina reached the pinnacle on home soil 48 years later, thanks largely to the goals of Golden Shoe winner Mario Kempes and the passionate supporters, whose snowstorms of shredded blue and white paper, swirling inside the stadiums in Buenos Aires and Rosario, left a lasting image.  There was sympathy for the Netherlands, runners-up for the second World Cup running, following a 3-1 Final defeat. After Dirk Nanninga's header had equalised Kempes's first-half opener, the Dutch came within a whisker of winning when Rob Rensenbrink struck a post in the dying seconds of normal time. Destiny beckoned a reprieved Argentina, however, and Kempes and Daniel Bertoni seized the glory with extra-time strikes.  Kempes, the only foreign-based player in Argentina's squad, entered the tournament as the leading scorer in Spain with Valencia, and ended it with six goals – this despite his failure to find the net in the first round.  Coach Cesar Luis Menotti's had omitted the 17-year-old Diego Maradona from his squad, however eventually got the ultimate reward for playing skilful, attacking football embodied by graceful little midfielder Osvaldo Ardiles.  After the World Cup, Ardiles and his team mate Ricardo Villa signed for Tottenham Hotspur and went on to be Spurs legends. 

Back in the real world of school, we somehow all seemed to end up having to study German! If that wasn’t bad enough, our German Teacher was our Headmaster, Mr. Copley.  Copley could best be described as a ‘right bastard’.  He put real fear into his pupils and had zero tolerance.  So it was with great joy when the Evening Gazette headline news was that a Middlesbrough Head Teacher had been caught stealing £3,000 from the school funds.  Yes it was none other than our very own Mr. C.  On October 16th he was sentenced to 6 months in prison.  I’d like to think it was 3 mths for the theft and an extra 3 mths for being a bastard!  It didn’t take long for someone to graffiti on the front of the school, a picture of someone behind bars, with the caption “It’s a Fair Cop”, Brilliant.
I was playing more and more Rugby and even joined another team outside of school.  It wasn’t actually that far away from school, infact we wore the same shirts.  On Nov 19th dad came to watch me play scrum half for Acklam Junior Colts XV against Bertram Ramsey School XV.  We lost 6 – 10 but a very crafty move by me set up our try.  We had a penalty right under the posts and near the goal line.  I had our pack of forwards behind me and their pack right in my face.  I was thinking that if I touch the ball to our forwards I’m going to get crushed in the melee.  So to everyone’s surprise, I touched the ball and launched the longest diving pass of my life to our Winger who went over unopposed in the corner.  If you think that was clever, playing for Kings Manor against Hustler, we had a penalty on the 25 yard line.  I noticed that no one was paying attention and tapped the ball to myself, then casually walked along the touchline and sprinted behind their team before they eventually noticed what was going on.   One of the schools we played, Brookside, had one player that you could say, stood out.  He was nicknamed John ‘Boy’ Walton and must’ve been 6ft tall and 15 stone.  Their tactic was to give him the ball and watch him bulldoze his way to the line.  It took about five of our players to tackle him and on one occasion I was tackled by him and he picked me up and threw me into the woods about 10 yards from the pitch.  Thankfully we only played them twice a year.  

Charlie and Fiona were having differing levels of success in their respective jobs they started earlier in the year.  On August 15th Fiona showed us a letter of appointment as the Evening Gazette Editors Secretary, from the 2nd October on a salary of £3,000 pa.  That might not sound much, but for a 19-year-old girl to land a job like that is unbelievable, especially as she’s only worked there a few months and they asked for over 25’s only to apply. I bet that went down well with the secretaries who’d worked there for 25 years. So my sister is the secretary to the Editor and my best friend’s dad is the Sports Editor, I should be laughing for freebies.   In contrast Charlie was supplied with a new Datsun estate car by REM Power Tools Ltd, but they also wrote him a strongly worded letter criticising his attitude to his work. I didn’t hold my breath for any freebies from him. 
There were two football matches from 1978 that have stayed in the memory.  The most memorable occasion for violence was when Boro played Chelsea on Dec 16th 1978.  I went with Robin Mar from next door, as I had two tickets and he supported Chelsea.  Before the game started the Chelsea fans stormed the Holgate End (Kop end) and emptied it. They then spray painted Chelsea FC on the back of the stand.  When order was restored, the game was a classic. It was Peter Osgood's comeback game, in his second spell at Chelsea and he gave them the lead after about half an hour. By half time it was 3 - 1 to Boro and by Full Time it was 7 - 2. Happy days!!  I've just looked up the scorers and Micky Burns scored 4... I didn't remember that. Come to think of it I only have a vague recollection of a player called Micky Burns. The other memorable game was when Boro played Bolton Wanderers in the 5th Round of the FA Cup.  We were crammed in the Boy’s End like the old proverbial Sardines! I was half hoping we didn’t score as this was a long time pre-Taylor Report or Hillsborough.  However we did score and it was a superb long range effort from Billy Ashcroft.  I couldn’t get my arms out, but was like a surfer riding a massive wave, as we swayed forward then backwards in celebration.  Little Stan Cummins sealed the victory to the delight of most of the 36,662 crowd.
I’d started to take more notice of music and one band in particular, The Boomtown Rats. Their biggest hit of the year was Rat Trap and it was played everywhere you went.  Another massive hit of the year was YMCA by the Village People.  Little did we realise that this group of men dressed as a Cowboy, Construction Worker, Policeman and Red Indian singing about the YMCA (Young Men’s Christian Association) were actually singing about picking up young men for GAY activities. It even had its own dance routine that would be copied at every wedding reception or birthday party till the end of time.  

Y - Arms outstretched and raised 

M - Made by bending the elbows from the 'Y' pose so the fingertips meet over the chest

C - Arms extended to the left 

A - Hands held together above head 

The end of the 70’s was a great time in music, we had Punk Rock, Disco, and Heavy Rock and loads more. One of the most popular bands at school was the Punk Group, Tom Robinson Band (TRB). There big hit was "2-4-6-8 Motorway".  The big fashion statement at school was to paint your rucksack with your favourite bands name or logo.  Everyone bought the same style, which had a big flap at the top.  I can’t remember exactly what paint we used but it was quite thick and left a glossy finish.  I had the TRB fist (see below).  
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       Village People


     Boomtown Rats


     TRB
Another fashion statement at school was to have Rider Boots (below) and not only that you had to put Kegs in the heel. They were little bits of metal with very sharp spikes which you embedded in the heel of your Rider Boots.  The idea was to make as much noise as possible while walking along the school corridor.  You also had to wear your school tie in the biggest knot possible, with the actual tie reaching about the second button on your shirt.  
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The big surprise about our holiday this year was that we didn’t go to Scotland.  When I say we that should be I, as Mum, Dad and Auntie Vi did actually go to Scotland while I was on holiday at Butlins in Pwllheli, with Simon Berry and his family.  On the Saturday before going to Scotland, mum and dad were godparents at 2 year old, Kate Wigham’s christening, at St. Mary’s church Thornaby.  They actually only went to Scotland for four days, but managed to visit, Edinburgh (stayed the night in South Queensferry, of course), Stirling Castle, Argyll & Sutherland Regiment Museum, the Trossachs, Callander, Glen Coe, Fort William, West Highland Museum, Oban, Inverary Castle, Loch Lomond, Glasgow and finally Gretna Green . In Gretna Green they visited the "World Famous Old Blacksmith's Shop", also called the Old Smithy, perhaps the best known venue for weddings of eloping couples. 
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Mum and Auntie Vi at the Old Smithy

In England in an Act of Parliament introduced in 1754 by Lord Hardwicke, restricted the number of places in which marriages could take place; most significantly, it outlawed marriages in which either bride or groom were under 21 unless both sets of parents or guardians consented. The new law was rigorously enforced.  But the 1754 Act did not apply to Scotland. Here it remained possible for anyone of 16 or over to get married with or without their parents' consent. And marriages could be carried out without prior notice and in a wide range of venues, without need for a clergyman to officiate. Gretna Green happened to be the first place you reached in Scotland when following the main route north from Carlisle, and so it became a centre for runaway marriages. These were often carried out by the village blacksmith as the tradesman of most respect in the community. And they were often carried out with a sense of urgency driven by the knowledge that one or other set of parents was in hot pursuit. The act of marriage came to be marked by the striking of his anvil by the blacksmith. This could be seen as symbolising the joining together of two pieces of metal in the heat of the blacksmith's fire. Like them, the couples involved were joined together in the heat of the moment and bound together for eternity. 

After living in Middlesbrough for seven years, the dream was coming to an end because Dad had all but built his Metro Bridge in Newcastle and was being interviewed for a job that was right up his street.  On the 7th December he caught the high speed train to London for an interview with a company called Ove Arup and Partners.  They left dad to sweat for a few days and when Monday passed he couldn’t wait any longer, at 9 am on the Tuesday he phoned Jorgen Nissen of Ove Arup, who offered him the R.E.’s (Resident Engineer) job on Kessock Bridge, Inverness, Scotland.  So not content with being Scotland’s greatest ever visitors we were going to actually live there. Dad went back to London on the Thursday to discuss terms.  Things got better and better for dad as they not only offered him the job in Scotland; he was offered a permanent job with Ove Arup.  His salary wasn’t bad, either, £9,950 plus profit sharing and an increase in July 1979.  

We spent Christmas Day at home in Middlesbrough, but on Boxing Day we travelled all the way to Strood in Kent, to meet Valerie Knight’s family.  David and Val were getting married in February (and she’s not even pregnant).  Her sister Christine showed us All Saints church where the wedding was to be.  She also showed us slides of Australia.  We all stayed overnight.  Of course we couldn’t just go home afterwards, we had to take David to Heathrow Airport, visit Uncle Stuart & Auntie Shirley, Nanna, Auntie Jess, Uncle Frank & Auntie Susan.  Also saw dad’s cousin Andy & Kathleen, Harold & Doris, David & Irene Hewitt and Theresa, before finally arriving at Hole Farm to stay with Barry & Muriel, Mark and Penny.    

1978 Facts & Figures

Jan 1st – Bombay, an Air India Boeing 747 explodes in mid air killing 213.

Feb 15th - Rhodesia's Prime Minister Ian Smith and 3 black leaders agree on the transfer to

 black majority rule. 

Feb 16th - The Hillside Strangler, a serial killer prowling Los Angeles, claims a 10th and final

 victim.

Mar 1st – Grave robbers stole the body of Charlie Chaplin's from the cemetery in Cosier-sur-
Vevey, Switzerland.

Mar 17th - The oil tanker Amoco Cadiz runs aground on the coast of Brittany, spilling 220,000 
tons of crude oil.

Mar 18th - Zulfikar Ali Bhutto, PM of Pakistan, is sentenced to death by hanging for ordering the 
assassination of a political opponent.

May 9th - In Rome, the body of Aldo Moro, the Italian president of the Christian Democrats, is 
found in a parked car.

June 19th - Garfield, which eventually becomes the world's most widely syndicated comic strip,
 makes its debut.
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June 25th - Argentina defeats the Netherlands 3-1 after extra time to win the 1978 FIFA 
World Cup.

July 25th - Louise Brown, the world’s first test tube baby was born in Oldham, Manchester, UK.

Aug 26th - Pope John Paul I succeeds Pope Paul VI as the 263rd Pope.

Sep 5th - Menachem Begin PM of Israel and President Anwar Sadat of Egypt, begin the peace
 process at Camp David, Maryland.

Sep 19th - Police launch a massive murder hunt, when 13-year-old newspaper boy Carl Bridgewater
 is shot dead after disturbing a burglary.

Oct 16th - Pope John Paul II succeeds Pope John Paul I as the 264th pope. He is the first Polish 
pope in history.

Nov 18th - In Guyana, Jim Jones leads his Peoples Temple cult in a mass murder-suicide that

 claims 918 lives.

Nov 30th - Publication of The Times and Sunday Times is suspended because of an Industrial dispute.
Dec 11th - Two million demonstrate against the Shah in Iran.

Dec 25th - Vietnam launches a major offensive against the Khmer Rouge of Cambodia.
Hits of 1978, Stayin’ Alive (Bee Gees), YMCA (Village People), Rivers of Babylon (Boney M), Rat Trap (Boomtown Rats), Dreadlock Holiday (10cc), Matchstalk Men and Matchstalk Cats & Dogs (Brian & Michael), Wuthering Heights (Kate Bush).

New TV shows in 1978, The Incredible Hulk, Dallas, Taxi, Grange Hill, Mork and Mindy, 3-2-1., Blakes 7

The two hit films of 1978 were – Superman: The Movie and Grease. Grease also had two songs that were at No. 1 in the U.K charts for the longest time in 1978, You’re the One That I Want (9 wks) and Summer Night’s (7 wks), both sung by John Travolta and Olivia Newton John
Deaths

Jan 13th –Hubert Humphrey, US Vice President and Senator, died aged 66.

Jan 14th – Harold Abrahams, English Athlete, Gold Medal winner in 100m at 1924 Olympics, died
 aged 79.

July 10th – Joe Davis, World Snooker Champion every year from 1927 – 1940, died aged 77.

Aug 6th – Pope Paul VI, 262nd Pope, died aged 80.

Aug 28th – Robert Shaw, English Actor (Jaws), died aged 51.

Sep 7th – Keith Moon, English Drummer (The Who), died of overdose, aged 32.

Sep 28th – Pope John Paul I, 263rd Pope for 33 days, died aged 65. 

Oct 12th – Nancy Spungen, girlfriend of Sex Pistols bassist Sid Vicious, died aged 20.

Dec 8th – Golda Meir, 4th Prime Minister of Israel, died aged 80.
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Thatcher at No.10.        Seb Coe Sports Personality        Saturday Swap Shop
                Yes, Minister

Winter of discontent, you’re having a laugh!  Oil Tanker drivers strike, means no oil for the heaters at school, means no school. Six weeks Christmas holiday, you didn’t see much discontent on the face of a 14-year-old.

Charlie didn’t have a very good start to the year.  On 2nd January he started a new job with Black & Decker.  He went to work by train to Newcastle, but on the way home in a Vauxhall Cavalier he had his windscreen knocked in after a collision with a horse & rider.  Only Charlie could crash into a horse.  To compound his misery he broke the ignition key in the starter switch.  That wasn’t the end of his car troubles.  Less than a week later he was driving the same car on the M1 motorway when a tyre burst at high speed; the car spun round and round and hit the central reservation.  To cap a miserable month for Charlie, he was on his way home from Maidenhead, when he was taken ill in Leicester.  On Saturday 27th he phoned from Leicester General Hospital, to say he had appendicitis.  Later that day he had an operation to remove his appendix, which was inflamed.

So we were on the move again, Dad had got a job building a bridge from Inverness to the Black Isle, it was going to be called the Kessock Bridge. INVERNESS, where on earth was that.  I’ll tell you where it is, SCOTLAND, North Scotland to be precise.  Basically too far too ever see my friends again and for anyone to ever come and visit.  We might aswell have moved to Australia (wish we were). When he said we were moving to the North of Scotland, I conjured up an image of a one horse town, with one Policeman, one Postman and a corner shop, what kids these days know as BALAMORY.  Nothing they could say would persuade me to move to Scotland, absolutely nothing. “They break up for summer holidays at the end of June”. “I’ll pack my bag, when do we leave?” I was to be in for a big shock in this one horse town.

On 9th March Ann Wigham had her 2nd child, another girl, called Charlotte, a sister for Kate, who was nearly 3 years old.  

On February 24th my brother David got married to Valerie Knight, at All Saints Church, Strood, Kent.  The Bride & Groom looked very smart, Dad looked like a Penguin in his suit and I looked a right state when I tried on someone’s Top Hat. I’m lucky no one phoned the ‘Fashion Police’. Fortunately nobody had heard of Mobile Phones in 1979.  Can you imagine the youth of the 21st Century not having Mobiles, I-pods, PS3, Wii, Xbox and Internet? We thought that the Grandstand game that you plugged into the TV was State of the Art.  Then along came ATARI to change our lives forever.
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     David & Valerie’s Wedding


 
Where did you get that hat?
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Dad was making lots of trips up to Inverness, to work (allegedly), to find us somewhere to live, to do some sightseeing and to go fishing.  Now Dad was no expert fisherman, but he was good at remembering his camera.  On the morning of March 28th Dad was up early to meet Mike & Mary Martin at the weir on River Ness. Within 5 minutes of Dad’s arrival Mike had hooked a 26lb salmon, which he landed after a 50-minute struggle.  26lb? That’s a bloody shark! Of course Dad was there with his camera to capture the evidence.  Mike sold it for £52 later.  I think I’ll take up fishing.  In between catching huge fish and trying to spot the Loch Ness Monster, Dad did find us somewhere to live, No. 5 Holm Park.  Just one small problem, it hadn’t been built yet, well not finished.  Dad also discussed my schooling with Mr. David Sillor at Culduthel Building, Inverness Royal Academy (IRA).  He told him that I was really keen to start and desperately wanted to start before the summer holidays.  Thanks a lot Dad!

                           5 Holm Park

     
                         
26lb Salmon



The Conservatives won the General Election on my 15th Birthday.  The new Prime Minister was a woman, Margaret Thatcher. She obviously wore the trousers in that house.  A short while later the New Chancellor (Geoffrey Howe) had his first budget.  He made VAT 15% and Income Tax 30%.  So all those promises of, lower taxes were just a ploy to get people to vote in the Tories and “The Iron Lady”.  Postal rates also went up 1p to 10p, 1st class, 8p 2nd class.

At 2.35pm on 16th June 1979 we left No. 6 Thackeray Grove, Middlesbrough, never to return.  There was no turning back now, Bonnie Scotland here we come!  Mum, Dad, Me and Becky the Cat, left in the V.W. Caravette and headed for our first port of call, a B&B in South Queensferry, overlooking the Forth Bridges (What a surprise).  The next day we stopped for lunch at the Pass of Killiecrankie, This was the site of a large battle between the Jacobites and the government troops in 1689. The Scottish emerged victorious. One of the only escape routes was the leap across this gorge. One soldier is recorded to have made the 18-foot leap with Highlanders chasing him with claymores swinging. Consider that a History Lesson!  After lunch we finished our journey to Inverness and stayed the night a Mercury Motor Inn.  The following day we left the Hotel, (saw Princess Anne drive past, as you do) and moved to our new home, a tent at the Municipal Caravan Site in Bught Park.  On Tuesday 19th June I started at my new school, Inverness Royal Academy, sounded dead posh but wasn’t really.  We finally moved into No. 5 Holm Park on the 25th June.

I’m glad I started school before the summer holiday, as I was able to make some friends that I would be able to hang out with during the holidays.  Three of these friends would turn out to be very good friends, Andrew Sarjeant, Cameron Fraser and Alasdair Godfrey (Gudge). One of the first things I did was to join the Torvean Golf Club, £10 a year!  I won’t need to go to school; I’ll be turning professional by the time I’m 16 years old.  I went camping by Loch Killin, with Cam and Andy.  It was the middle of August, but it was cold and wet and you had to dig a hole to take a dump.  When I returned home a couple of days later, I was lucky not to catch pneumonia.
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You know I said no one would come and visit, well I couldn’t have been more wrong.  On 5th July Roger, Rosemary and baby Jethro came to stay for over a week.  On 22nd July Ann and Geoff, Kate & Charlotte came to stay for a week.  We saw Salmon leap at Shin Falls, then we drove to Golspie to see Dunrobin Castle.   No sooner had Ann and Geoff left then Grandad and Auntie Barbara arrived.  They hadn’t even left before our next guests arrived; David and Valerie (and Dougal the Dog) drove 560 miles from Andover to stay with us. That wasn’t the end of our visitors for the summer, Auntie Vi and Uncle Doug came to stay.  Dad, Uncle Doug and I went to the Cinema to see the new James Bond film 'Moonraker'. It was brilliant, especially 007’s fight with ‘Jaws’ (a massive bloke with metal teeth); with a Man eating Shark ready to devour the loser. My Best friend from Middlesbrough, Simon Berry and his family also came to visit us.

   
  Me and Kate at Dunrobin Castle

     Ann, Kate & Baby Charlotte


David tried to teach me to drive.  I had never driven a car before, but what damage could I do? We were the only people who lived in Holm Park (thank god) and anyway all I had to do was drive the car straight at a slow speed.  There were two things I didn’t quite pick up – Steering and Brakes.  Basically the Steering Wheel was turned hard left, but I had it in a vice like grip, thinking all I had to do was hold it still and we would go straight.  I took off the Hand Brake, pressed down on the accelerator and not just for accelerating, I was quite hopeful that if I pressed hard enough it would turn into a brake.  The result was I zoomed off sharp left, ploughed a furrow across Number 4’s front garden and somehow we stopped on No. 3’s garden without smashing the car up.

If you thought that was the end of our visitors, you were wrong.  Fiona and her Boyfriend (I use the word ‘Boy’ loosely, as he was old enough to be my Dad) Christopher came to stay at the end of September.  However my cousin Gary from Zimbabwe went one better and came to live with us and got a job working with Dad.  On the day Fiona and Christopher arrived, I wasn’t there as I was off playing Rugby for the IRA against Gordonstoun.  Yes, Prince Edward was at Gordonstoun, same year as me, but not selected for the Rugby team, that day.  He’d obviously heard how good I was and didn’t want to embarrass his family.  It was great having Gary stay, we played lots of Golf, went to see Caledonian play Thistle (they used to have two teams in those days, three if you include Clachnacuddin). But best of all was on 10th November when we drove to Murrayfield in Dad’s Maxi, to see Scotland play the All Blacks (6 – 20).  On the way back it started to snow, so Gary stopped the car and got out and started dancing around.  It was the first time he'd seen snow.  The headlights also failed on the way home, so Gary just kept close to the car in front, what is more commonly known as, ‘up his arse’. Gary also took me to the Cinema quite often.  One night we went to see ‘Monty Python and The Holy Grail’, well that’s what I told Mum and Dad.  We couldn’t get into see that film, so the only option was to see ‘Emmanuelle II and ‘Rosie Dixon Night Nurse’.  15 years old! Superb!  

Dad got to meet a celebrity, well, an MP.  Mr Malcolm Rifkind, Minister for Scottish Home Affairs and Environment, visited the Kessock Bridge Site and Dad had lunch with him at the Mercury Motor Inn.  In fact Dad was always busy showing people round the site; I’m surprised they ever got any work done.  He did a slide show on bridge building to the Inverness Branch of the Institution of Post Office Electrical Engineers (They had more than one branch? Are you sure)?  He also writes in his diary that he had a visit from Glasgow University. I assume not the whole University.  Another day a group of Malaysians (Mr.Chin, Mr. Yoon and Mr. Abu Baker), who were responsible for the Penang Bridge Project, just happened to be passing and stopped to visit the site.  A ‘Construction News’ reporter also came to do an article on Kessock Bridge.  Who next? ‘Horse & Hound’, ‘Hello’, ‘Peoples Friend’.   Julian also came to stay with us.  He was on a BBC assignment to Tomatin Distillery.  Our moving to Inverness must have boosted the local tourism Industry by about 10%.

On 11th December it was Mum and Dad’s 25th Wedding Anniversary and they had a party at 5 Holm Park.  The guest list was, Mike & Stella Bickers, Jim & Freda Clark, Jeremy & Penny Cooper, Bill & Kate Ann Cunningham, Donald & Betty Fraser, Pam Gillies, David & Georgie Hankin, Bill & Margaret Henderson, Hugh MacDonald, Frank & Jeannette McKendry, Drew MacLelland & Valerie, Duncan & Jessie Maclennan, Mike & Mary Martin, Moira Meenan, John & Diane Robinson, Ken & Jan Wilson and Me.  At the end of the evening I was washing up and someone asked me if we were going to have another party for Hogmanay.  HOG-MA-WHAT? It was at this point that it dawned on me that we were living in a foreign country.  I was suddenly very afraid.
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About the only people who hadn’t stayed with us were Charlie and Joanne.  Well thankfully that was remedied before the end of the year, when they came to stay for Christmas.  Fiona came as well.  Charlie and Joanne returned home to Middlesbrough on Boxing Day and I went with them, to stay with the Berry’s.  It didn’t feel like home anymore, I couldn’t wait to get back to Inverness. What a great place that we have moved to.

1979 Facts & Figures

Feb 1st - The Ayatollah Khomeini returned to Iran after a 14-year exile. 

Feb 1st - Trevor Francis, 24, became the first million-pound footballer, when he joined

 Nottingham Forest.

March 26th – Israel and Egypt signed a peace treaty on the lawn of the White House.

May 4th – My 15th Birthday and Margaret Thatcher became the new Prime Minister.

May 30th – Nottingham Forest won the European Cup, 1 – 0 against Malmo.

June 18th - President Jimmy Carter and Leonid Brezhnev signed the SALT treaty.

July 20th – Seve Ballesteros, 22-year old Spaniard, won the British Open at Lytham St. Anne’s.

Sept 12th - The Yorkshire Ripper claimed his 12th victim.

Dec 10th - Mother Teresa was awarded the Nobel Peace Prize. 

Deaths

Jan 26th – Nelson Rockerfeller, US Republican politician, died aged 70.

March 30th – Airey Neave, Tory MP, was killed by a car bomb at the House of Commons, died

 aged 63.

June 11th – John Wayne, US Actor, died aged 72.

August 27th   – Earl Mountbatten of Burma, killed by the IRA in Northern Ireland, died aged 79.

Sept 27th – Dame Gracie Fields, British Actress and Entertainer, died aged 81.

*I would like to dedicate this year of my diary to the memory of Cameron Fraser.  On 22nd May 2005, I returned to Inverness for the first time since 1982.  Coincidentally this date should have been Cameron’s 41st Birthday, but he tragically died in 1995.  Cameron was one of the most charismatic people I ever met and with him Andy & Gudge, I spent some of the best times of my life.
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